
 1 

ANCESTORS OF: 

RICHARD PAUL ANKENY 
 

• INTERESTING FACTS REPORT 

• ANCESTOR REPORT 

• PEDIGREE CHART 

• VETERAN ANCESTOR LIST 
 

RESEARCHED AND ORGANIZED IN FEBRUARY 2023 

BY: 

FAMILY TREE NUTS, GENEALOGICAL SERVICE 
 

GENEALOGIST- COL. RUSSELL A. CARSON, JR 

 
www.familytreenuts.org   (859)-314-1976    info@familytreenuts.org 

 

mailto:info@familytreenuts.org


 2 

DOCUMENTED VETERAN ANCESTORS OF RICHARD PAUL 

ANKENY 

 

SERGEANT PETER ANKENY III, CIVIL WAR, 

COMPANY E, 171ST PENNSYLVANIA INFANTRY, & 

COMPANY G, 93RD PENNSYLVANIA INFANTRY, 

DIED OF ILLNESS 

 

CAPTAIN PETER ANKENY, REVOLUTIONARY WAR, 

BEDFORD COUNTY PENNSYLVANIA MILITIA 

 

2ND LIEUTENANT JACOB B. GLESSNER, 

REVOLUTIONARY WAR, BROTHER’S VALLEY 3RD 

COMPNAY, BEDFORD COUNTY PENNSYLVANIA 

MILITIA 

 

SERGEANT JOSEPH “YOST” MILLER, 

REVOLUTIONARY WAR, YORK COUNTY & 

LANCASTER COUNTY PENNSYLVANIA MILITIAS 

 

CORPORAL DANIEL GUPTILL, REVOLUTIONARY 

WAR, YORK COUNTY MAINE MILITIA, UNDER 

MASSACHUSETTS MILITIA 

 

PRIVATE LUDWIG FRIEDLINE, REVOLUTIONARY 

WAR, BEDFORD COUNTY PENNSYLVANIA MILITIA 
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PRIVATE MICHAEL ZIMMERMAN, 

REVOLUTIONARY WAR, YORK COUNTY & 

LANCASTER COUNTY PENNSYLVANIA MILITIAS 

 

PRIVATE CASPER RIPPLE, REVOLUTIONARY WAR, 

NORTHAMPTON COUNTY PENNSYLVANIA 

MILITIA 

 

PRIVATE REINHART REPLOGLE, 

REVOLUTIONARY WAR, BEDFORD COUNTY 

PENNSYLVANIA MILITIA 

 

PRIVATE PETER MOCK, REVOLUTIONARY WAR, 

WASHINGTON COUNTY MARYLAND MILITIA 

 

PRIVATE OBEDIAH TRUE, REVOLUTIONARY WAR, 

MASSACHUSETTS BAY REGIMENT  

 

PRIVATE JAMES GERRY, FRENCH & INDAIN WAR, 

REVOLUTIONARY WAR, MASSACHUSETTS LINE 

 

HONORABLE, COMMANDER JOHN FROST, 

ESQUIRE, AGE OF PIRATES, MAN-O-WAR SHIP 

“EDWARD”, CAPTURED BY PIRATES 

 

HONORABLE, COLONEL WILLIAM PEPPERELL, 

EARLY COLONIAL MASSACHUSETTS MILITIA 
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MAJOR JOHN FROST, EARLY COLONIAL 

MASSACHUSETTS MILITA, KILLED BY INDIANS 

 

SERGEANT JOSPEH TRUE, EALRY COLONIAL 

MASSACHUSETTS MILITIA 
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 TO: The Seth Ankeny Family  

 

SUBJECTS: The family and ancestors of Richard Paul Ankeny 

 

RESEARCH QUESTION OR GOAL: Discover and document the family members and ancestors of Richard 

Paul Ankeny, including relevant facts. The results are documented in various reports, with the highlight report 

in a bullet point style summary of interesting ancestors. 

 

BACKGROUND SUMMARY: The client’s father passed away when he was ten years old, and he had very 

few conversations with his father’s father. The family does know the name, birth and death dates of his 

grandfather and knows the name of his great-grandfather. The family has heard rumors about the family 

moving around due to being in the military. They have heard locations like Ohio, Nevada, and California. The 

client would like to see if they connect to a Revolutionary War veteran named Peter Ankeny and if it is true 

that they connect to an ancestor that immigrated in 1748, from Germany, through Philadelphia, and eventually 

settling in Clearwater, Maryland. No other information has been provided for the researcher. 

 

RESOURCES USED: 

             Ancestry 

            Family Search 

            My Heritage 

            Fold-3 

            Find-A-Grave 

            Newspapers.com 

            Relevant State Archives 

            Various Web Searches 

 

            RESTRICTIONS OR LIMITATIONS: None 

 

SUMMARY OF RESEARCH FINDINGS: The many family lines on Richard Paul Ankeny’s family tree 

have been almost entirely in or around Somerset County, Pennsylvania. One 4th Great-Grandfather takes the tree 

into New England for two more centuries. The family is almost entirely of German ancestry, which is typical 

the area, and the New England branch is almost entirely English. The entire tree stems from people that 

immigrated to Pennsylvania, and a few into Maryland, except for the New England branch. No other 

immigration points or countries of origin have been found. Most ancestors worked as farmers, but some other 

occupations that were found were, tire worker, rubber worker, agriculture inspector, railroad repair, plaster 

contractor, coal miner, cabinet maker, carpenter, shook maker, cooper, and cordwainer/shoemaker.  

 

Only one Civil War Veteran was found, and he served two enlistments, unfortunately losing his life before the 

war had ended. Eleven Revolutionary War Veterans have been found, all but two served in their local area 

militia units. This family tree also has one French and Indian War Veteran, as well as four veterans that served 

in military units long before the United States was an independent nation. Many of their stories and battles are 

in this report. The number of documents that have been found for the ancestors in this project is unbelievable. 

The main reason why, is likely because of the deep and intertwining roots in the Somerset County, 

Pennsylvania area. The biggest mystery is Ruth Baur/Bare/Barr/Bauer. Knowing her roots would make this 

project much larger. 
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The Richard Paul Ankeny family tree could be considered as American as one could be because of the longevity 

of their time on American soil, long before the Revolutionary War. They are also long-term “Pennsylvania-

Dutch”, on the first American back-country of modern western Pennsylvania. No lines were found of recent 

immigrants, making the family tree goal, of tracing a line to country of origin very lengthy. Four slave holders 

were found, likely coming from their time living in Maryland, and one Uncle, Sir William Pepperell owned 

several slaves in early Maine. No Native Americans were found in this tree. It is possible that some of the dead-

end lines, especially the female ones, could be descended from Native Americans but that is not found at this 

time, and no signs exist that it would be the case.  

 

GENEALOGIST COMMENTS: The ancestors in this tree are a snapshot of many families in rural 

Western Pennsylvania. They were hard working with large families, often with multi generations in the 

same household. They were patriotic which shows by their service to their communities during the 

Revolutionary War, when the young United States called. In witnessing the close proximity that the 

family lived for the last two centuries, and the multi-generations of families living under one roof, as 

well as the intermarrying with other local families, it can be determined that these ancestors come from 

very close-knit communities that looked out for each other. Like almost all Americans families, they had 

modest wealth but didn’t appear to struggle financially. However, the further back, and closer you get to 

the Revolutionary War time period, their lands were larger, and they had more wealth. Many ancestors 

in this report were prominent in their communities and served as elected leaders. The region and the 

people that this family descends from leaves them with a plethora to be proud of! 

 

All ancestors are matched to how they are kin to Seth Ankeny, such as 2x great-grandfather, etc., so 

future generations in the family will know their relation to each family member. The report reads in 

direct male lines until an end is found, and then moves over to the closet female line, etc. 

 

The genealogist must go on record that all information until the early 1800s, and/or late 1700s is proven 

with legitimate sources and documentation. The ancestors and information earlier than that time period 

are often without hard proof from research of this genealogist and the information is obtained from 

various sources, to include previously researched online trees. Much of the information from online 

family trees have previously been researched over the years from other descendants of the ancestor 

however, it is possible that there could be mistakes in the tree. This genealogist tries diligently to 

eliminate information that is unlikely due to locations, ages, and other historical information. It must be 

considered that most of the information contained in this family tree is highly likely to be correct due to 

names, locations, ages and small populations to choose from the further back we go into history. Many 

of the original sources were historical books, letters, and documents that this genealogist has not viewed 

himself. In order to produce a family tree, the size of this and proving with documentation the sources at 

all points, would take several years to complete. Anyone who reads this report in the future must 

understand these facts about the production of this report.  

 

It has truly been a treat to spend some much time learning about the ancestors of Richard Paul Ankeny 

and bringing them back to life! May they never be forgotten! 

 

 

FURTHER RESEARCH SUGGESTION: More details can be found about the people in this report. Searches 

in local repositories will no doubt turn up wills, deeds and other family records that have not been scanned into 

online formats. At any time, more research can be done on any person or group of people in this family tree. 
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The purpose of this project was to find the name and locations of the ancestors. It is entirely possible to learn 

more facts about many of the people in this tree. It truly is unending. 

 

 

 

 
 

INTERESTING ANCESTOR FINDINGS FOR THE ANCESTORS OF RICHARD PAUL ANKENY 

(1937-2015) 

 

 

• Seth Ankeny is the base for this report and was born 5 July 1985, in Lexington, Fayette County, 

Kentucky, to Douglas Dean Ankeny and Judy Bennett Owsley. 

 

 

 

• Douglas Dean Ankeny, the father of Seth Ankeny, was born 7 November 1959, in Barstow, 

Fresno County, California, to Richard Paul Ankeny and Carol Alice Hodkin Armstrong.  

 

• Douglas married Judy Bennett Owsley on 14 June 1980, in Harrison County, Kentucky. 

 

• Douglas died 7 May 1996, at the University of Kentucky Medical Center, in Lexington, 

Kentucky, and is buried in Battle Grove Cemetery, in Cynthiana, Harrison County, Kentucky. 

 

Obituary for Douglass Dean Ankeny, published on 9 May 1996, in the Lexington Herald-Leader, in 

Lexington, Kentucky 
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Headstone for Douglas Ankeny found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

• Grandfather Richard Paul Ankeny was born 1 January 1937, in Akron, Summit County, Ohio, to 

Vernon Venard. Ankeny, and Ruth Marion Barr.  

 

Article about Richard Ankeny’s birth in The Akron Beacon Journal, in Akron, Summit County, Ohio, on 

2 January 1937 
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• In 1940, Richard lived at 390 Chittenden Street, in Akron, Summit County, Ohio, with his 

parents, brother Vernon, Jr., and sister Peggy. His father was born in Pennsylvania, occupation 

was “tubing tires” in a rubber factory, rented their house for $10 a month, had a 9th grade 

education and made $368 the previous year. Richard’s mother was also from Pennsylvania. 

 

1940 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

 

• In 1950, Richard lived on Highway 91, in Yermo, San Bernadino, California, with his parents 

and two siblings. His father was a State of California State Agriculture Inspector. His brother 

Vernon was training in the National Guard. 

 

1950 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Richard married Carol Alice Hodkin 27 February 1958, in Clark County, California.  

 

• In 1958, Richard lived in San Bernadino, California. 

 

• Richard divorced Carol Alice Hodkin on 7 August 1981, in Harrison County, Kentucky. 

 

• Richard married Billie Jean Moore on 25 May 1985 in Campbell County, Tennessee. 
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Tennessee, U.S., Marriage Records, 1780-2002 

 

 
 

 

• In 1996, Richard lived in Temple, Texas. 

 

• At some point, Richard lived at 1904 South 1st Street, Temple, Texas. Today it is across form the 

VA Hospital and 1902 South 1st Street is a motel. 

 

• Richard died 22 December 2015, in Cynthiana, Harrison County, Kentucky, and is buried in 

Battle Grove Cemetery, in Cynthiana, Harrison County, Kentucky. 
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Headstone and obituary for Douglas Ankeny found on findagrave.com 

 
 

Richard P. Ankeny, age 78, of Cynthiana, Kentucky, died Tuesday, December 22, 2015, at 

Edgemont Healthcare, in Cynthiana. Born in Akron, Ohio, on January 1, 1937, to the late Vernon V. 
and Ruth M. Barr Ankeny, he was a laborer at Bundy Tubing. 

 
Besides his parents, he was preceded in death by a brother, Vernon "Ted" Ankeny; and a son, 
Douglas D. Ankeny. He is survived by: two sons, Danny P. (Pam) Ankeny and Richard M. (Debbie) 

Ankeny; two daughters, Cherie Ankeny and Cathy Ankeny; a sister, Peggy Ann Harvey, of Nevada; 

five grandchildren, Ella (Erik) Fryman, Holly (Wayne) Glenn, Nikki (James) Langfels, Seth Ankeny 

and Kayla B. Chandler; six great-grandchildren, Peyton Fryman, Grace Glenn, Kloe Fryman, 
Hunter Glenn, Mason Fryman and Madilee Chandler; and several nieces and nephews. 

 
Memorial services will be held at the convenience of the family. Burial will be in Battle Grove 

Cemetery. Arrangements are under the direction of Ware Funeral Home. 

 

Source: Ware Funeral Home website at warefuneralhome.com 

 

 

 

 

 

• Great-Grandfather Vernon Venard Ankeny was born 6 February 1910, in Paint, Somerset 

County, Pennsylvania, to John Schick Ankeny, and Mary Harriet Powell. 
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Pennsylvania, U.S., Birth Certificates, 1906-1913 

 
 

 

• In 1910, Vernon lived in Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his parents. His father was 

a railroad repair worker. His parents could read and write, and they rented their house. 

 

1910 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1920, Vernon lived at 1232 Mt. Vernon Ave, in Akron, Summit County, Virginia, with his 

parents, and four siblings. His father was a plasterer contractor, and they owned their own house 

free and clear. 

 

1920 U.S. Census 
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• In 1930, Vernon lived on Bowery Street, in Akron, Summit County, Ohio, with his mother, and 

six siblings. He was a “Prepare Stock” in a rubber shop. His mother ran a “rooming house”. His 

father and brother Kenneth were living with his father’s mother, and other family members but 

Vernon’s parents are still listed as married. 

 

1930 U.S. Census 

 

 
 

 

• Vernon married Ruth Marion Barr about 1936, likely in Akron, Summit County, Ohio. 

 

• In 1940, Vernon lived at 390 Chittenden Street, in Akron, Summit County, Ohio, with his wife 

and three children. His occupation was “tubing tires” in a rubber factory, rented their house for 

$10 a month, had a 9th grade education and made $368 the previous year. 

 

• In 1940, Vernon registered for the WWII Draft. He lived at #8 Eastwood Avenue, Akron, 

Summit County, Ohio. He worked for the B.F. Goodrich Rubber Company, on Main Street, 

Akron, Ohio. He was 5’6” tall, 135lbs., with blue eyes, brown hair and ruddy complexion. He 

also had a tattoo on each arm and on his left hand. The card has his signature. 

 

U.S. World War II Draft Cards Young Men, 1940-1947 
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• In 1950, Vernon lived on Highway 91, in Yermo, San Bernadino, California, with his wife and 

three children. He was a State of California State Agriculture Inspector. His son Vernon, Jr. was 

training in the National Guard. 

 

• Vernon died in July 1980, in Shirley, Van Buren County, Arkansas, and is buried in Lute 

Cemetery, Van Buren County, Arkansas. 

 

Marker for Vernon Venard Ankeny found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 2nd Great-Grandfather John Schick Ankeny was born 14 March 1885, in Meyerdale, Somerset 

County, Pennsylvania, to Josiah P. Ankeny and Amanda C. Ripple.  

 

• In 1900, John lived in Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his parents, five siblings, and 

a sixteen-year-old servant named Rachel Seese. He had a fourth-grade education and was a coal 

miner. His father was a cabinet maker, could read and write, and rented their house.  

 

1900 U.S. Census 
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• John married Mary Harriet Powell on 22 April 1908, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Pennsylvania, U.S., Marriages, 1852-1968 

 
 

• In 1910, John lived in Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and son Vernon. He 

was a railroad repair worker. He could read and write, and they rented their house. 

 

• In 1920, John lived at 1232 Mt. Vernon Ave, in Akron, Summit County, Virginia, with his wife 

and five children. He was a plasterer contractor, and they owned their own house free and clear. 

 

• In 1930, John lived in Lakemore, Summit County, Ohio, with his mother, brother, brother-in-

law, son Kenneth, and three nephews. He was a plaster contractor and was able to read and write. 
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1930 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• John married Freda Emma McGrail about 1937, likely in Summit County, Ohio. 

 

• In 1940, John lived on Canton Road, State Highway #8, in Springfield, Summit County, Ohio, 

with his new wife Freda, two infant children and his mother. He was a laborer on the WPA ditch 

project, and rented his house for $18 a month, had an 8th grade education, and made $360 the 

previous year. 

 

1940 U.S. Census 

 

 
 

 

• In 1942, John registered for the WWII Draft. He lived at 606 Alpha Avenue, Ellett, Summit 

County, Ohio. He worked on the stock farm of Mr. Ripple and Philips, and was 5’9” tall, with 

blue eyes, brown hair and ruddy complexion. The card has his signature. 
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U.S., World War II Draft Registration Cards, 1942 

    
 

 

• In 1950, John lived on Junior Street, in Springfield, Summit, County, Ohio, with his wife, and 

four children. He was a plasterer.  

 

1950 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• John died 25 March 1955, in Akron, Summit County, Ohio, and is buried in Hillside Memorial 

Park Cemetery, in Akron, Summit County, Ohio. 

 

Headstone for John Schick Ankeny found on findagrave.com 
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Obituary for John Schick Ankeny published 26 March 1955, in the Akron Beacon Journal, in 

Akron, Summit County, Ohio, and photo said to be John Ankeny found on ancestry.com 

    
 

 

 

 

• 3rd Great-Grandfather Josiah P. Ankeny was born 17 September 1854, in Somerset County, 

Pennsylvania, to Peter Ankeny, III and Mary Zimmerman. 

 

• In 1860, Josiah lived in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his parents, four 

siblings and a seventeen-year-old day laborer named Cyrus Penrod. His father was a farmer with 

his real estate valued at $4,500, and personal estate valued at $1,245. 
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1860 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1870, Josiah lived in Davidsville, Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his 

mother and six siblings. His mother was now a widow, but his mother’s parents lived on the 

same property. His mother’s real estate was valued at $5,000, and her personal estate was valued 

at $1,400. His grandparent’s personal estate was valued at $3,300. Next door lived his uncle 

Jacob Zimmerman, whose real estate was valued at $8,000 and personal estate $1,300. 

 

1870 U.S. Census 

 
 

• Josiah married Amanda C. Ripple, about 1880, likely in Quemahoning, Somerset County, 

Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1880, Josiah lived in Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife Amanda. He 

worked at a sawmill. 

 

1880 U.S. Census 
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• In 1900, Josiah lived on Border Street, in Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife, 

five children, and a sixteen-year-old servant named Rachel Seese. He was a cabinet maker, could 

read and write, and rented their house. His son John was a coal miner. 

 

• In 1910, Josiah lived in Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and three children. 

He was a carpenter, was able to read and write, and owned his house outright. His wife had had 

twelve children of which only six were still living. 

 

1910 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1920, Josiah lived at 815 5th Avenue, Akron, Summit County, Ohio, with his wife, daughter 

Mary, and her husband and son. He was a carpenter that built houses and rented his house. His 

son-in-law was a rubber worker. 

 

1920 U.S. Census 

 
 

• Josiah died 30 July 1926 in Akron, Summit County, Ohio, and is buried in East Akron Cemetery, 

in Akron, Summit County, Ohio. 

 

Headstone for Josiah Ankeny found on findagrave.com 
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• 4th Great-Grandfather Peter Bonnett Ankeny III was born 28 July 1822, in Somerset County, 

Pennsylvania, to Peter Bonnett Ankeny Jr., and Mary Barbara Friedline.  

 

• In 1830, Peter lived in Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his parents and nine other 

family members. 

 

• In 1840, Peter lived in Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with seven other family 

members. Two people were employed in agriculture, and two people over the age of twenty 

could not read and write.  

 

• Peter married Mary A. Zimmerman on 25 February 1847, at the home of Mary’s father, in 

Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1850, Peter lived in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and a nine-

year-old boy named Henry Peterson. He was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $2,000. 

 

1850 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1860, Peter lived in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife, five 

children, and a seventeen-year-old day laborer named Cyrus Penrod. He was a farmer with his 

real estate valued at $4,500, and personal estate valued at $1,245. 

 

• Peter fought for the Union in the Civil War and enlisted twice. He was first drafted to serve nine 

months, in Company E, 171st Pennsylvania Militia on 24 October 1862, in Harrisburg, 

Pennsylvania. He enlisted as a Corporal but was promoted to Sergeant on 5 May 1863. He was 

musted out with his unit on 8 August 1863. 

 

The following is information about the 171st Pennsylvania found on nps.gov 

171st Regiment, Pennsylvania Infantry (Drafted Militia) 

OVERVIEW: 

Organized at Harrisburg October and November 1862. Moved to Washington, D. C., November 27; thence to Suffolk, Va. 

Attached to Spinola's Brigade, Division at Suffolk, Va., 7th Corps, Dept. of Virginia, to January 1863. 1st Brigade, 5th 

Division, 18th Corps, Dept. of North Carolina, to May 1863. District of the Pamlico, Dept. of North Carolina, to June 1863. 

Spinola's Brigade, 7th Corps, Dept. of Virginia, to July 1863. Harper's Ferry, W. Va., July 1863. 

SERVICE: 

Duty at Suffolk, Va., till December 28. Moved to New Berne, N. C., December 28-January 1, 1863, and duty there till April 

1863. Expedition from New Berne to Trenton, Pollocksville, Young's Cross Roads and Swansborough March 6-10. 

Expedition to relief of Little Washington April 7-10. Blount's Creek April 9. Expedition to Swift Creek Village April 13-21. 

Duty at Little Washington till June. Ordered to Fortress Monroe, Va. Dix's Peninsula Campaign July 17. Moved to 
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Washington, D. C., thence to Harper's Ferry, W. Va., July 7-9; thence to Boonsboro, Md., and reported to General Meade 

July 11. Pursuit of Lee July 11-24. Ordered to Harrisburg, Pa., August 3. Mustered out August 8, 1863. Regiment lost 38 by 

disease during service. 

 

 

Pennsylvania, U.S., Civil War Muster Rolls, 1860-1869 

 
 

 
 

 

He enlisted again with Company G, 93rd Pennsylvania Infantry. He enlisted as a Corporal for one 

year, on 17 September 1864, in Pittsburg, Pennsylvania. He was 5’ 8 ½” tall, had blue eyes, 

brown hair, and dark complexion. An individual bi-monthly muster roll has not been found for 

Peter so currently it is unknown of his present status month to month with his unit. During his 

enlistment dates his unit took part in the Battle of Cedar Creek, Battle of Fort Stedman, Battle of 

Hatcher’s Run, The Appomattox Campaign, Third Battle of Petersburg, and was present at Lee’s 



 23 

surrender at Appomattox Court House. Without muster rolls, we can’t know for sure as to Peter’s 

participation in these battles, but it is likely that he was present for several of them and possibly 

even all of them. Perhaps his illness took place after Appomattox. He died of chronic diarrhea on 

20 May 1865, at the Patterson Park United States General Hospital, in Baltimore, Maryland. His 

wife applied for and was granted a pension of $8 per month, and an additional $2 per month for 

each child until they reached the age of 16. Genealogist note: Peter was 42 years old when he 

enlisted, and it was near the end of the war. He unfortunately died after the war had essentially 

ended. About one month after his death, his entire unit mustered out on 27 June 1865. 

 

Service information found concerning Peter Ankeny from his widow’s pension application found on 

fold3.com 
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• Peter died 20 May 1865, in Baltimore, Maryland, and is buried in Loudon Park National 

Cemetery, in Baltimore Maryland. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 5th Great-Grandfather Peter Bonnett Ankeny, Jr., was born 28 February 1785, in Somerset 

County, Pennsylvania, to Captain Peter Ankeny and Rosina Bonnet.  

 

• Peter was baptized 26 April 1785, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania.  

 

Pennsylvania and New Jersey, U.S., Church and Town Records, 1669-2013 

 
 

• Peter married Mary Barbara Friedline in 1806, in Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1810, Peter lived in Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and three 

children. 

 

• In 1820, Peter lived in Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and ten other 

family members. Two people were engaged in agriculture.  

 

• In 1830, Peter lived in Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and ten other 

family members. 

 

• In 1840, Peter lived in Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and six other 

family members. Two people were engaged in agriculture, and two people over the age of 20 

could not read or write. 

 

• In 1850, Peter lived in Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and four 

children. He was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $4,000. He could read and write but 

his wife could not. 
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1850 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1860, Peter lived in Binford’s Store, Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with a 

sixteen-year-old boy, Jonathan Brender. His son Josiah (an uncle of the Josiah Ankeny listed 

above) lived next door. 

 

1860 U.S. Census 

 

 
 

 

• Peter died 18 October 1860, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in Beam German 

Reformed Church Cemetery, in Jennerstown, Somerset County, Pennsylvania.  

 

Headstone of Peter Bonnett Ankeny, Jr., found on findagrave.com 
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• 6th Great-Grandfather Captain Peter Ankeny, Sr. was born 6 March 1751, in Clear Spring, 

Washington County, Pennsylvania, to Dewalt Theobald Ankeny and Mary Jane Dorner. 

 

• Peter married Rosina Bonnet in 1773, in Pennsylvania. 

 

• Peter served as a Captain in the Bedford County Militia during the Revolutionary War. 

 

• In 1800, Peter lived in Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with ten other family 

members.  

 

• Peter died 23 December 1804, in Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in 

Ankeny Square Burial Ground, Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Headstone, write up, and DAR/SAR info for Captain Peter Ankeny found on findagrave.com 
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Peter Ankeny assisted in establishing American Independence while acting as Captain of the Fifth 
Company of the Third Battalion of the Bedford County PA Militia in 1781. 

 
He gave the town of Somerset a small tract of land for a cemetery, which is now known as Ankeny 

Square, and a lot for a school building where the former Patriot Street School now stands. At the 

time of his death in 1804, Peter Ankeny was the largest landowner in southwest PA with real 

estate valued at over $21.000. Ankeny Square has been designated a historical site by the PA 
Historical and Museum Commission. 

 

A chapter of the National Society of the Daughters of the American Revolution has been named 

for him. 
http://captainpeterankenychapter-nsdar.weebly.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://captainpeterankenychapter-nsdar.weebly.com/
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Excerpt from the book “History of Bedford, Somerset, and Fulton Counties, Pennsylvania, Chapter LVI, 

pages 443-446 
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Page from the family bible of Captain Peter Ankeny found on ancestry.com 
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Ankeny information found on ancestry.com 
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Plate showing the burials at Ankeny Square, Somerset, Pennsylvania, found on ancestry.com 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandfather Dewalt Agne/Ankeny was born 16 November 1727, in Lamborn Obere 

Hauptstrasse, Germany, to Johann Heinrich Agne, and Christine Cantor. 

 

• Dewalt immigrated to Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, on 25 October 1746, on the ship “Neptune”. 

 

• Dewalt married Mary Jane Dorner in 1748, in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1774, Dewalt purchased 250 acres in Bedford County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• Dewalt took the Oath of Allegiance during the Revolutionary War. 

 

• Dewalt died 4 March 1781, in Clear Spring, Washington County, Maryland, and is buried in 

Saint Paul’s Lutheran Church Cemetery, in Clear Spring, Washington County, Maryland. 
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Excerpt from the book “Sheppard-Marshall and Allied Families, Part 1, Page 55 

 
 

 

Transcription of will of Dewalt Ankeny found on ancestry.com 
In the Name of God Amen: The eleventh day of March in the year of our Lord, one thousand seven hundred and eighty 

one. I, Devault Anconey, of Washington County, Maryland State; being sick in body, but of good and perfect memory 

thanks be given to Almighty God and calling to Remembrance the uncertain Estate of this Trancetory life and that all 

flesh must yield to death when it shall Please God to call, do make constitute ordain, and declare this to be my last Will 

and Testament; in manner and form following, revoking and annulling by these presence, all and every Testament and 
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Testaments, Will and Wills heretofore by me made and declared either by word or writing, and this is only to be taken 

only for my Last Will and Testament, and none other, and first being penitent and sorry from the bottom of my heart 

for my sins past, most humbly desiring forgiveness for the same. 

I give and commit my Soul unto Almighty God my Savior and Redeemer in whom, and by the merits of Jesus Christ, I 

trust and believe assuredly to be saved and to have full remission of all my sins, and that my Soul with my body at the 

General Day of Resurrection shall rise again with joy,---through the merits of Christ's Death and Passion, possess and 

inherit the Kingdom of Heaven, prepared for his Elect and Chosen, and my body to be buried within my orchard fence 

by the graves that is already therein and now for settling of my Temporal Estate and such goods, chattels, and debts as it 

hath pleased God far above my deserts to bestow upon me, I do give and dispose the same in manner and form 

following; that is to say: First I will that all those debts and duties as I owe in right to any manner of person or persons 

whatsoever shall well and truly be paid within convenient time after my decease by my executors hereafter named.--- 

Item, I give and bequeath three hundred acres of land, the lower part of the original whereon I now live with all the 

meadows and improvements thereunto belonging to which two of my sons it shall fall to by a fair drawing of tickets for 

the same by my seven sons, hereafter named; Christian; Peter; John; Henry; David; Jacob; and George Anconey, the 

advantage of the water within the meadows to be equally advantagious each to the other, and further the said three 

hundred acres of land is to be justly appraised and valued in hard money or the exchange at the time of the 

appraisement by my sons which have come ofâ€™ age, and them the said sons, shall find and give to my beloved wife 

Margaret Anconey yearly and every for the term of six years if in case the younger is not properly educated, the two 

sons aforesaid is to give to the said Margaret Anconey yearly, twenty five bushels of good merchantable wheat, each also 

ten bushels ofâ€™ good rye each, also ten bushels of good Indian corn, also ten bushels of good buckwheat each also 

fifteen bushels of potatoes each likewise the sons is to find the said Margaret Anconey, one ton of good first crop hay, 

each also one ton and a half each of second crop hay and the whole to be delivered by said sons in good order into the 

barn or the stable which she shall think proper and the aforesaid sons that get the land is to move the old house from 

where it now stands on the other side of the upper spring, and to repair the same in such manner as she the said 

Margaret Anconey may live warm and decently in the same, also they are to put into the said house my forge stove 

which now stands in my room with the pipe thereto and she the said Margaret Anconey is to have the said house and 

stove during her natural life if she chuses. Likewise my wife is to have the said negro girl called Rachael during her 

natural life, then after her decease the said girl Rachael is to be sold and the money or price of her is to be divided 

amongst the whole children seven boys and five girls: the sons is to chop and have all the firewood for said Margaret 

Anconey during the time she shall have occasion for it. Likewise the said sons shall find said Margaret Anconey one 

large year old hog each yearly and every year fit for fatting, also fifteen pounds of hackled hemp each and fifteen pounds 

of good ton, (tow) each likewise all I have with her saddle and bridle, the saddle and bridle to be found by her said sons 

likewise she is to have three cows, the choice being of the Penn. Item: I give and bequeath two hundred acres of land it 

being the remaining part of my original tract called "Well Pleased" lying Northeast of the aforesaid three hundred acres 

to any of my seven sons as aforesaid which ever one shall draw it by a fair draft of tickets aforesaid for the other three 

hundred acres it also being appraised or valued by my sons as before mentioned and at the experation of six years the 

appraisement money of the said two hundred acres of land is to be equally divided amongst my twelve children to be 

paid in equal payments every year within the term of four years after the said appraisement of said land likewise the 

before mentioned three hundred acres the value of which is to be equally divided amongst my twelve children and paid 

them within or at the experation of four years as before mentioned by which every (ever) two sons get it, but if in any 

case my son Peter Anconey should draw one of the improved places in the original tracts whereon I now live, it is my 

desire that he would let one of his younger brothers have the place whereon he now lives, according to the 

appraisement of each or as they may otherwise (ways) agree but if my son Peter Anconey should not be willing to agree 

with his brother it is my desire that he will purchase one for his brother that may be aducate (adequate) to the 

appraisement; Item: Whichever of my sons as dose not draw a piece of land in my original tract shall each one have one 

tract of land lying in Milford Township, ye state of Pennsylvania at the first cost. One bought of Michael Huff Â£55. 

One bought of John Shoff at Â£143. One bought of Matthias Ditch Â£36 10. One bought of Jacob Houke Â£110 hard 

cash. Item: I give to my beloved wife to take her choice of four ewes of the best of my flock, likewise all my household 

furniture during her natural life and after her decease it is to be sold and the money equally divided amongst the 
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children except the three cows and their increase after her decease is to be given to my youngest daughter Elisabeth. 

Morever I do ordain that my beloved wife shall have the privileges of pasturage for her stock in the same pasture with 

my two sons stocks that gets the places, also my beloved wife is to have the privilege of what apples as she may think 

necessary and proper for the use of her house. Moreover after the expiration of six years which two sons gets the places 

they are and shall find my beloved wife yearly and every year a good and sufficient maintenance of meat and drink and 

clothing and other neceparies (necessaries) which she shall stand in need of. Item:--I do order and ordain that all my 

stock and farming utensils except what I have already bequeathed shall be sold at Public Vendue and the monie arising 

therefrom shall be equally divided among my twelve children and my beloved wife Margaret (sic) likewise sixty pounds 

good money which I received with my wife Margaret by our marriage which sum I apoint to be divided between said 

wife and the children she had by me (viz) my sons; John; Henry; David; Jacob; and George Anconey; and my daughters; 

Margaret and Elisabeth Anconey, by her first husband Franey and Christina Frederick, all in equal shares, and if God in 

his Providence should call me off the stage of life before my younger children should receive their learning in the Dutch 

school I appoint that my wife shall receive twenty pounds of good money out of the vendue money for to school the 

said children and I ordain and appoint my beloved wife Margaret and my son Christian Anconey my executors of this 

my last Will and Testament for the true intent and meaning of the same whereof I have hereunto set my hand and seal 

the day and year above writing, his 

Devault X Anconey {Seal} 

mark Signed, Sealed, Published, and Pronounced, and Declared by the said Devault Anconey as his Last Will and 

Testament in the presence of us the subscribers. N. B. I give to my beloved wife to be found by her by the before 

mentioned sons all nespasary ((sic) cloathing for my youngest during the term of six years, and also for the negroe girl 

Rachael and money to be drawn by said sons from the Vendue of my stock. 

Joseph Brewer; -Henry Gerbach;- Thomas Van Swerigan Washington County, Maryland., SSt April 7, 1781, On the back 

of the original will and the following indorsements, (to wit) 

 

Washington County, Maryland, SSt. April 7, 1781. Then came Margaret Anconey and Christian Anconey and made oath 

on the Holy Evangels of Almighty God that the within instrument of writing is the and Whole Will and Testament of 

Devault Anconey late of the said County, deceased, that have come to their hands or possession and that they do not 

know of any other. 

Certified by Thomas Belt, Register 

 

Washington County, Maryland: SSt April 1781, Then came Joseph Brewer, Henry Gerbach, and Thomas Van Swerigan, 

the three subscribing witnesses to the within Last Will and Testament of Devault Anconey late of said County, deceased, 

and severally made oath on the Holy Evangels of Almighty God that they did see the Testator therein named Sign, and 

Seal, this Will and that they heard him Publish, Pronounce and Declare the same to be his last Will and Testament; that 

at the time of so doing he was to the best of their apprehensions of sound and disposing mind, memory and 

understanding and that they respectively subscribed their names as witnesses to this Will in the presence and at the 

request of the Testator and in the presence of each other. 

 

Headstone photos and write up found on findagrave.com 
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A memorial stone was placed in St. Paul's Cemetery after DeWalt's burial place nearby in an orchard was 

lost and family graves plowed over. His last wife was Margaret Becker Frederick. It was said he had twelve 
children. There are questions as to actual dates of births and names of first two wives, but his first or 

second wife was probably Mary Jane Domer(Dormer) who was killed in a barn fire trying to save the 

animals. 

 
Dewalt took an Oath of Allegiance to the Colonial Cause before the Justice of the Peace in Washington 

Co, MD. Feb. 28, 1778 (Revolutionary War) found in unpublished records, Vol 3, Pg 39 of the D.A.R. and 

from "Maryland Historical Magazine", Vol 12, Pg 345. Name given "Devault Anchony". 

 

Inscription: 
"To the Memory of De Walt Ankeny, the first of his name and the founder of that family in America, one 

thousand seven hundred forty-six, born 1733 died at Clear Spring, MD., 1781." 
 

Photo form Clear Spring, Maryland, found on ancestry.com 
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Article found on ancestry.com 
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Article concerning the family, found on ancestry.com 



 47 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandmother Mary Jane Dorner was born about 1730, likely in Lancaster County, 

Pennsylvania to Christian Dorner/Domer, and unknown mother. 

 

• Mary Jane married Dewalt Theobald Ankeny in 1748, in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania. Her 

story matches her husbands until her death. 

 

• Mary Jane died in January 1759, likely in Lancaster, Pennsylvania. 
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• 8th Great-Grandfather Christian Dorner/Domer was born about 1700, in likely either Germany or 

Pennsylvania. 

 

• Christian died unknown time and place, likely in Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 6th Great-Grandmother Rosina Bonnet was born 17 September 1757 in Hagerstown, Washington 

County, Maryland, to Johannes John Bonnet and Margaret Dorothy Bickley. 

 

• Rosina married Captain Peter Ankeny, Sr. in 1773, in Pennsylvania. Her story matches her 

husbands until his death in 1804. 

 

• Rosina died 5 February 1834, at the home of her daughter Elizabeth Hugus, in Somerset County, 

Pennsylvania, and is buried in Ankeny Square, Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Grave plate and photo form Rosina Bonnett found on ancestry.com (headstone seen under her husband 

above) 
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Story found on ancestry.com 

Note: Housed in the Iowa State Historical Museum are the eyeglasses of Rosina Bonnet Ankeny for 

whom Rosina St in Somerset, PA is named for. They also have a framed silhouette likeness of her. 

Several other artifacts of the Ankeny family have been placed there by Harriet L. Ankeny, daughter 

of Joseph and Harriet Geise Ankeny. A painting of Harriet Geise Ankeny is hanging in the 

Genealogy Library there. She died at the home of her daughter, Elizabeth Hugus, in Somerset, PA. 

Rosina and her husband Peter Ankeny, are interred in Ankeny Square, Somerset, PA. She lived a 

pious and exemplary life, was long a member of the Presbyterian Church and her attention to the 

sick of her acquaintance will long be remembered with feelings of gratitude. MEMORIAL OF THE 

HUGUENOTS The Bonnett family belongs to the nobility of Lorraine (I) and was of high standing 

during the Reformation period. The name is often met with in Huguenot literature. Being mostly 

Protestants, they were greatly scattered during the persecutions, some going to England, 

Switzerland and the Palatinate. It was from Switzerland (2) that the several branches in American 

came. One of the earliest of this name in Pennsylvania was Jean Jacques Bonnett and wife Marie 

who arrived in 1733 with a considerable family. 1810 census Somerset PA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandfather Johannes Jean John Simon Bonnet was born 26 Oct 1731, in Pleurs, 

Marne, Champagne-Ardenne, France, to Jean Bonnet and Anna Unknown. 

 

• Jean immigrated with his family in 1733, to Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.  

 

• Jean married Margaretha Dorrothea (Margaret Dorothy) Bickley 22 April 1755 in Lancaster 

County, Pennsylvania. Ulrich Bickley 

 

• In 1778, Jean lived in Washington County, Maryland. 

 

• In 1800, Jean lived in Westmoreland County, Pennsylvania, with three other family members. 

 

• Jean died in August 1793, in Bedford County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• TODAY THE JEAN BONNET TAVERN STANDS IN BEDFORD COUNTY, 

PENNSYLVANIA, AND CAN BE VISITED  
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Excerpt from the book “North America, Family Histories, 1500-2000”, Lineage Book: NSDAR: 

Volume 093:1912; page 19 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Pennsylvania, U.S., Wills and Probate Records, 1683-1993, Will of Jean Bonnet 
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Transcription of Jean Bonnet’s will found on ancestry.com 

In the name of God, Amen.  I, John Bonnet, of the state of Pennsylvania, county and township of 

Bedford, farmer, being sick and weak in body but of perfect mind and memory, thanks be to God for 

it, calling to mind the mortality of the body and knowing that it is appointed for all men once to die, 

do make and ordain this my last will and testament, that is to say principally and first of all, I give 

and recommend my should into the hands of almighty God that give it and my body I recommend 

to the earth to be buried in decent Christian burial at the discretion of my executors and taking such 

worldly estate wherewith it hath pleased God to bless me in this life.  I give, devise and dispose of 

the same in the following manner and term: 

First, I give and bequeath to Dorothy, my dearly beloved wife, her full third of all and every 

movables, books, debts, notes, bonds, and money on hand and of the owner of the Snake Spring 

farm, ten pounds per annum as long as she lives, and likewise ten pounds per annum of the farm I 

now live on as long as she lives and a dwelling house to be built for her on said farm by the owner, 

if demanded.  Also, I give to my well-beloved son, John Bonnet, having given him already the sum 

of four hundred pounds, I likewise give him all that certain plantation or tract of land situated in 

Quemahoming township and county of Bedford known by the name of "Support", containing 317 

acres, likewise a mulatto boy named Patrick, likewise his full share of the movables.  Also, I give and 

bequeath to my well beloved son Jacob Bonnet all that plantation or tract of land in Bedford County 

known by the name of Snake Spring, he paying his mother the sum of ten pounds per year as long as 

she lives; likewise, he, the said Jacob is to have his full share of the movables, also I give and 

bequeath to my well beloved son Isaac Bonnet, the plantation I now live on known by the name of 

Toddsburgh out of which plantation he, the said Isaac, is to pay to my son-in-law, Peter Ankeny, 

the sum of six hundred pounds good and lawful money of Pennsylvania to be paid as follows, to 

wit:  in one year after my decease one hundred pounds and one hundred pounds per year until the 

whole six hundred pounds is full paid, likewise, my son, Isaac, is to have his full share of all the 

movables, likewise, Peter Ankeny is to have his share of the movables, also I give and bequeath to 

my well beloved daughter, Leesa ((Mary Elizabeth)), all that tract or plantation formerly the 

property of Gasper Tensbough containing two hundred and fifteen acres with all and singular the 

improvements thereon made.  I likewise constitute, make and ordain my well-beloved wife, 



 53 

Dorothy and my son, Isaac, the executors of this my last will and testament.  I likewise give to my 

beloved wife the little bound girl, Suzy, by name, as long as she, my wife, lives. 

 Signed, sealed, published.  Pronounced and declared by the said John Bonnett as Jean Bonnet (seal) 

his last will and testament in the presence of us 

Thomas Hay 

William Todd 

John Clark 
 

Painting of Jean Bonnet displayed at Jean Bonnet Tavern, found on ancestry.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

• 8th Great- Grandfather Johannes Jean John Bonnet was born about 1710, likely in France, to 

unknown parents. 

 

• Jean married Anna Unknown about 1730, likely in France. 

 

• Jean immigrated with his family in 1733, to Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. 

 

• Jean died possibly in 1752, in Paoki, Chester County, Pennsylvania.  
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• 7th Great Margaretha Dorrothea (Margaret Dorothy) Bickley was born about 1735, in likely 

Pennsylvania, or Germany, to Ulrich Bickley and unknown mother. 

 

• Margaret married Jean Bonnet on 22 April 1755 in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania. Her story 

matches her husbands until his death in 1793. 

 

• Margaret died about 1795, in Bedford County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 8th Great-Grandfather Ulrich Bickley was born about 1710, in likely Pennsylvania or Germany. 

 

• Ulrich died unknown date and place. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 5th Great Grandmother Mary Barbara Friedline was born 12 August 1787, in Milford, Somerset 

County, Pennsylvania, to Johan Peter Friedline, and Maria Catherine Miller. 

 

• Barbara married Peter Ankeny, Jr. in 1806, in Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. Her 

story matches her husbands until their deaths. 

 

• Barbara died 31 January 1860, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in Beam 

German Reformed Church Cemetery, in Jennerstown, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Headstone of Mary Barbara Friedline found on findagrave.com 



 55 

    
• 6th Great-Grandfather Peter Friedline was born 30 September 1765, in Manchester, York County, 

Pennsylvania, to Ludwig Friedline, and Anna Margaretha Lenhart. 

 

• Peter married Maria Catharine Miller in July 1875, in Bedford County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1800, Peter lived in Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with eight other family 

members. 

 

• In 1820, Peter lived in Jenner, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with four other family members. 

One person was engaged in agriculture. 

 

• Peter died 29 March 1824, in Jefferson, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in 

Lenhart-Friedline Cemetery, in Bakersville, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Headstone of Peter Friedline found on findagrave.com 
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• 7th Great-Grandfather Ludwig Friedline was born 16 September 1730, likely in Germany, to 

unknown parents.  

 

• Ludwig immigrated on the ship “Brothers” in 1751, Captained by William Muir, sailed from 

Rotterdam, Netherlands, likely to Philadelphia. 

 

• Ludwig married Anna Margaretha Lenhart in 1754, in Lancaster, York County, Pennsylvania. 

• Ludwig purchased the land that he is buried on in Somerset County, Pennsylvania, in 1776. 

 

• Ludwig served as a Private in the Revolutionary War. No records have been found at this time 

and the source for this is the stone at his cemetery and his DAR number. His record is located at 

the Pennsylvania History Museum. He likely served in one of the German militia units of the 

area. One online researcher has stated that he was in the Bucks County (PA), Militia.  

 

• Ludwig died 6 June 1784, in Milford, Somerset County, and is buried in, Lenhart-Friedline 

Cemetery, in Bakersville, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Headstone of Ludwig Friedline found on findagrave.com (Inscribed 1784 L.Fr.) 
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Ludwig Friedline DAR Sheet found on findagrave.com 

 
• 7th Great-Grandmother Anna Margaretha Lenhart was born about 1732, likely in Germany, to 

unknown parents. 

 

• Anna married Ludwig Friedline, in 1754, in Lancaster, York County, Pennsylvania. Her story 

matches her husbands until his death in 1784. 

 

• Anna died in 1810, in Milford, Somerset County, and is buried in, Lenhart-Friedline Cemetery, 

in Bakersville, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Headstone of Anna Margaretha Lenhart found on findagrave.com (no inscription is shown now but in 

1934, it was recorded as saying “1810”. 
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• 6th Great-Grandmother Maria Catherine Miller was born 9 April 1767, likely in Pennsylvania, to 

Joseph Yost Miller, Jr. and Maria Eva Unknown. 

 

• Catherine married Peter Friedline in July 1875, in Bedford County, Pennsylvania. Her story 

matches her husbands until his death in 1824. 

 

• Catherine died on 17 April 1835, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in, Lenhart-

Friedline Cemetery, in Bakersville, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Headstone for Maria Catharine Miller found on findagrave.com 
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• 7th Great-Grandfather Joseph Yost Miller, Jr. was born 25 July 1748, in Germany, to Joseph Yost 

Miller, Sr., and Mary Unknown.  

 

• Yost immigrated about 1760. 

 

• Yost married Marie Eva Unknown about 1765, likely in Pennsylvania. 

 

• Yost served as a Sergeant in the Revolutionary War. He first enlisted on 19 May 1776, and 

enlisted again in Ephrata, Lancaster County, Pennsylvania 1 March 1777. Some information 

states that he served in Captain Moore’s Company, spent time at Valley Forge and fought in the 

Battle of Brandywine. He served in the Philadelphia County Militia.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pennsylvania, U.S., Veterans Burial Cards, 1777-2012 
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• In 1777, Yost or his father Joseph, Sr., served as Justice of the Peace in Lancaster County, 

Pennsylvania. 

 

• Yost died 12 August 1811, in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in 

Friedline-Miller Cemetery, in Coleman, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Headstone of Joseph Yost Miller found on findagrave.com 

  
 

 

 

Pennsylvania U.S., Wills and Probate Records, 1683-1933 
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Article found on ancestry.com written by Larry Pearce in 2003 about the Miller ancestors. Some of the 

end of the report veers further away from the Ankeny ancestors.  
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E-Gen: Miller 
4/19/03 

An Introduction to Nine Generations of Millers in Pennsylvania 

By  

Larry Pearce 

 

 Miller, my wife Susan’s maiden name, is one of the most common surnames in America, and if 

linguist Bill Bryson is correct, the vast majority of those families whose name suggests that particular 

occupation, originally “Mueller” or “Muller,” are of German ancestry. On the other hand, apparently the 

English, my ethnic origin, didn’t think much of the milling profession and thus avoided the name: 

  Millers were unpopular throughout much of history because of their supposed   

 tendency to cheat the farmers who brought them grain. So it was not a flattering   

 name. A modern equivalent might be the name Landlord. The German word had   

 the same meaning but did not carry the same derisory connotations. (203) 

Ironically and perhaps in support of Bryson’s idea, my great-great grandfather and the first of my line in 

America, Richard Pearce (1782/5-1861), was a British “miller by trade,” according to our original 

family narrative. [Read his story at E-Gen: Pearce. You may learn about the milling process and other 

grain grinding operations in America in “The Pearce Milling Company,”  but none of these families was 

named Miller.] At this point, we know very little about our first Miller in America, especially whether or 

not he came from a milling family. And as if the surname isn’t common enough, it has been very 

difficult keeping three generations of Joseph Millers from various historical sources straight. But, 

according to the book upon which this article is primarily based, A Brief History of Yost (Joseph) and 

Jeremiah Miller and Their Descendants, “The Archives of Pennsylvania showing the immigrants from 

the period of 1727 to 1775 (Volume 17, page 429) shows only one Joseph Miller as coming to 

Pennsylvania, therefore we believe that [he] came in 1754 and [his] boys, Jeremiah being two years and 

Yost (Joseph, Jr., whom we will refer to as “father,” although it is probable that Senior was also known 

at times as Yost) being six, came with their parents and were not listed in the Archives” (11).  

Grandfather Joseph was probably born around 1725 and, like so many of the immigrants from 

the troubled Palatinate section of southern Germany [or nearby Alsace and Lorraine, France], was 

probably a farmer but probably also had a grain grinder somewhere back in his ancestry. [See “From 

Germany to America: A Story of  Persecution and Opportunity” and "Exodus From Germany."] The 

only possible way of knowing more would be to research the Dutch records for his ship registration on 

the Barclay. Joseph, Sr. settled near Ephrata, about halfway between Reading and Lancaster [which 

makes the family’s county of reference difficult to pin down] and had at least two children, Joseph, Jr. 

(1748-1811) and Jeremiah (1752-1835). Cemetery records indicate that Jeremiah was born in Germany, 

while John (1781- 1850), the third child of Joseph, Jr., was born in Berks County, PA, so we know that 

the transition to the new land must have happened sometime between the births of Uncle Jeremiah 

(1752) and his nephew John (1781). Some sources list the birth of Yost’s oldest son, our great-great-

great grandfather Joseph Miller III, also as 1781, but we don’t know if this is an error or if, indeed, both 

children were born the same year to Yost and wife Marie. But, official state records do indicate that a 

Joseph Miller was a Justice of the Peace in Lancaster County in 1777. Was that Senior (age 52) or Junior 

(Yost, age 29)? This person was taxed in several townships and counties in that part of Pennsylvania, 

although family tradition says that 

our ancestor came from Berks County. If it was Joseph Miller, Sr., did he move west to 

Stonycreek Township, Somerset County, PA, in 1784 with sons Yost and Jeremiah? He would have 

http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/famnar.doc
http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/mill.doc
http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/german.doc
http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/german.doc
http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/exodus.doc
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been nearly 60 years old. Was our first Miller ancestor in Somerset County his son Yost, age 36, or did 

they both come? Neither Somerset County nor Eastern Pennsylvania records make this clear. The year 

of their coming, 1784, is significant as the year of the Ft. Stanwix, NY, treaty between the new United 

States confederation and the native Iroquois nation. This agreement officially opened Western 

Pennsylvania for settlement. Though some land was formally offered as payment to Pennsylvania’s 

Revolutionary War soldiers eight years later under Ben Franklin’s Settlers’ Act, the movement west was 

already well underway, and our Millers had staked their claim on fertile, unimproved land between the 

Laurel Hill and Allegheny Mountains. 

 Joseph, Jr. had enlisted with the Continental Army twice, once toward the start of the war, May 

19, 1776, and a second time at Ephrata, Lancaster County, March 1st a year later. He would have been 

28 years old. But, it was his brother Jeremiah, age 24, whose military career we know a little about, who 

fought at Princeton and Germantown near Philadelphia. He was wounded at the battle of Long Island, 

and along with his young wife Betty, was captured by the British at the Battle of Brandywine but later 

escaped at Brunswick, New Jersey. Jeremiah and Betty later farmed 161 acres near the village of 

Lavansville, Somerset County. He died at age 82 and, along with nephew John, is buried at Samuel’s 

Lutheran Church along Rt. 31 west of Somerset.    

In other ironic connections between my wife’s maiden name and my paternal surname, 

superficial as it may be and only according to tradition, Joseph’s son, and our ancestor, Yost came from 

Berks County, Pennsylvania. [Read “A 200-year Old Genealogical Discovery.”] That is also where Isaac 

Peirce [no relation that I know of], an English Quaker, originated from before buying so much of the 

land in the northern part of what is now Washington, DC, in 1794, now part of the National Park Service 

known as Rock Creek Park. His Pierce Mill there is one of the oldest and most famous working mills in 

the world. [Go to WWW.NPS.GOV/ROCR/PIERCEMILL .]  

 Having established our Miller name in America, as well as several other connections, we want to 

share the fascinating story of this family, especially their 250-year history of helping to build this great 

country, from colonial times to the 21st Century. Let’s begin with what has been published about Joseph, 

Sr.’s two sons, Yost and Jeremiah. 

 As for Yost, Joseph II, according to The History of Bedford, Somerset, and Fulton Counties, 

PA., “The elder Miller [father of Joseph III] was a man of more than ordinary intelligence, and for his 

time, a successful farmer” (493). It’s unusual that nothing is ever mentioned about his wife, Marie. We 

don’t even know her maiden name. His name “Yost,” however, was an affectionate and shortened 

nickname for the more formal “Joseph.” In German, which no doubt at least the senior Joseph still used, 

the “J” is pronounced as a “Y.” This may have been a popular custom deriving from his childhood when 

he was called “Yosty,” which may have been shortened later to just “Yost.” Today, a father might be 

named Robert, but in distinguishing, we might call his son Robby, and later just Rob. In our Laurel 

Highlands we still have entire German-American families with the surnames Yost and Joseph, both 

ancient references to the earthly father of Jesus in the New Testament and the Jewish “Prince of Egypt” 

and great-grandson of Abraham in the Old. 

 The family had moved west to a large farm on property that apparently was patented by a man 

named Long in central Somerset County near what is known a Coleman’s Station when the father was in 

his mid-thirties. With the Scotch-Irish settling the hilltops around Pittsburgh [see E-Gen: Gray and E-

Gen Campbell], many Germans were content to farm the land between the mountains just east, known as 

“The Roof Garden of Pennsylvania.” The old order Amish claimed the southern most farms, even across 

the Mason-Dixon line into Maryland, while the newer order Mennonites began in south-central 

Somerset County, the Brothersvalley Towsnhip-Berlin area. Many of them later moved to the northern 

part of the county towards Johnstown.  The Yost Miller farm could be considered north-central. One 

http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/connect.doc
http://www.nps.gov/ROCR/PIERCEMILL
http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/grayindex.html
http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/campbellindex.html
http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/campbellindex.html
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author paints a picture of what it must have been like for the Millers as they moved from “civilization” 

into the mountains just after the Revolutionary War: 

Let the reader try to imagine the loneliness, the dreariness and the desolation of this region; and 

unless he is gifted with an extraordinary imagination, he will not picture the situation worse than it really 

was. Yet there were several families of white people then living here, with woods and wild beasts all 

about them, and constant danger from the savages threatening them. Packhorse trails were the principal 

routes of travel. There were few stores or mills in any part of the vast territory of Bedford [Somerset 

formed in 1795] County, and frequently long journeys over the mountains to the eastern settlements had 

to be made when the pioneers desired to procure supplies. Salt and sugar were luxuries, and were used 

sparingly. Tea and coffee appeared on the table only on rare occasions. Simple food, well-cooked, and 

good home-made ferments fed and clothed the early settlers.” (History 495) 

According to the Miller history, Indians still lived in that part of county as late as 1835. Relics such as 

arrowheads, battle axes, and cut stones have been found along the known trails and villages. 

 The Yost Miller farm lay in what today is known as the valley of the Beaver Creek Dam, but in 

those days it was called “Silver Valley.” Historians tell us that frontier land could be claimed through 

what was known as “Tomahawk Rights” or “Walk Around Rights.” A man could literally claim all the 

property that he could walk around in a single day. He would mark the corners or various living 

landmarks, including the trees at valuable springs, by chopping gashes with an ax. His original property 

could have been hundreds of acres, and all he had to do to keep it was protect it from predators, human 

or otherwise. Later, when land patents, or deeds, were instituted at the county and state levels, Yost may 

have sold off his unused land in order to maintain the best and closest to his house and barn. [Read more 

about early real estate practices in E-Gen: Pearce at "Pittsburgh in 1820 and Beyond".] But, little did he 

know that all of this property contained both rich “C Prime” coal and abundant natural gas. Most has 

now been mined and tapped, the mineral rights having been sold off years ago. 

 Beginning in 1878, and for about a decade, next to what remained of the Yost Miller farm, on his 

son Samuel J. Miller’s homestead, the Miller Butter and Cheese Factory operated successfully until 

more modern techniques and competition forced it out of business. More recently, the nearby town of 

Friedens was home to the IXL Creamery, manufacturers of quality ice cream and dairy products. It was 

also forced to close, sometime in the 1970s, but this area of Somerset County has had a tradition of 

excellence in farming and dairy products. Descendants of Yost Miller also improved short horn cattle 

breeds as prime beef steers for city markets. The Author of our major source, William H. Miller, became 

the first breeder and importer of these purebreds.    

Enterprise and hard work became a character trait of the early Miller family. As soon as they 

were able, all of the eight Yost Miller children either helped on the farm or in the kitchen. The Millers 

apparently also established the first sawmill in northern Somerset County, which became known as “The 

Miller Community” or “Miller Corner.”  At their own expense they built the one room Texas School 

House, the first such place for public education in the township. In 1860, the very first County Institute 

was held there. Today we might call it a “Teachers’ In-service Day.” In another story that reflects the 

importance the family put on education we learn that a grandson Samuel married Elizabeth Mowry, a 

daughter of Peter Mowry who served in the War of 1812. They had 13 children, a dozen boys, who all 

taught public school in Somerset County, and a girl. A popular riddle in those days was that “each son 

had a sister. How could there be only 13 children?” The answer: “There was only one sister for all 12 

boys.”   

 Yost and Mary lived on and continued to improve their farm until their passing and then were 

buried in a family plot about a mile north along the Berlin Road. Father Yost was only 63 when he died. 

His stone is well preserved today. We believe you’ll find Yost Miller’s will an interesting read. 

http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/pitt.doc
http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/yostwill.doc


 66 

The youngest Joseph (1781-1860) married an acquaintance from a neighboring farm belonging 

to Captain Henry Shaffer, a Revolutionary War officer. As was Joseph’s mother, her name was also 

Mary. She had been born in Washington County, Maryland, in 1782. They had eleven children, five 

boys and six girls. In 1804, at the age of 23, they moved to nearby Quemahoning Township, today the 

site of the enormous reservoir of the same name built by Bethlehem Steel in the early part of the last 

century and which, unfortunately, covers much rich farmland. It is now owned by the counties of 

Somerset and Cambria and provides water and recreation for thousands. That Joseph and Mary 

improved a tract of 320 acres adjacent to Higgins’ Creek, better known as Beaver Dam Creek. The 

patent for that property was also 1784, filed by a Quaker named John Paul. There are still Paul families 

in that area known as Stoystown, along the old Forbes Road [also known as The Lincoln Highway or 

U.S. Rt. 30].  One source says, “The land was entirely unimproved, and he began the erection of ‘a 

home and a farm.’ He was thrifty and successful, and acquired a well-earned competency; to each of his 

sons he bequeathed a nice farm” (History 493). 

 Joseph and Mary’s seventh child was Susan’s great-great grandfather, Noah J. Miller, about 

whom we’ll learn in a moment. Early publications point out that Joseph was “a religious man, a worthy 

member of the Lutheran church, in which faith he reared his family.” He died in 1860 at the age of 79, 

just before the start of the American Civil War. His son, Noah and twelve grandsons fought for the 

Union side; three were killed in action. Waterman’s history says of Joseph’s kin, “No family in this 

township have been more largely identified with its development than they, and no member of the 

family tree ever stained the family escutcheon [coat of arms] since the emigration of their worthy 

ancestor.” It is believed that as many as 36 of Yost Miller’s descendants fought in the Civil War, while 

untold numbers have continued the military tradition in wars since. 

Noah J. Miller (1826-1881) married Elizabeth Zimmerman (1826-1895), whose family surname 

is still abundant in northern Somerset County, and they had five children. The fourth, named Dibert 

(1855-1889) after the surname of several Miller in-laws, married Susan Bowman (1857-1909), another 

popular name in these mountains. Before Dibert’s early death at age 34 [cause unknown] and her 

remarriage, they had four children: Earl, who married Ruth Hall and bought a large farm in Iowa; Mary, 

who married Austin Thomas and settled on the farm just below Susan’s grandfather; Howard Pearson, 

Susan’s grandfather whose middle name belonged to his uncle; and Charles, who married Ada Griffith 

and worked above ground for the prosperous local Jerome Mining Company. Noah and Elizabeth and 

Dibert and Susan are buried in the Stoystown cemetery. 

Grandfather Howard (1885-1969), like so many of his ancestors, married a young woman from a 

neighboring farm. Her name was Sarah Jane Baer (1891-1972) and she was the daughter of Franklin 

(1862-1916) and Almira Bausch Baer (1855-1917) [see E-Gen: Baer]. The Baer family farm, which later 

became the Howard and Sarah Baer Miller homestead, still sits astride Pheasant Lane on the western 

slope of the hill overlooking the majestic Quemahoning Reservoir and escaped most of the construction 

work and flooding of the bottomland when the great dam was built around 1911. Many homes and at 

least one ancient Indian village were not so fortunate. Howard and Sarah were the last of our family to 

farm the hillside. [See other farm stories in this series and "The Lost Civilizations of the 

Quemahoning."] Today the house, which can be seen from the breast of the dam, has been remodeled 

and is in perfect condition, thanks to Elizabeth Good and Mark Andrew Weakland, a husband and wife 

known regionally for their connection to music and drama. Mark’s CDs, including the delightfully 

folksy Songs From the Country, which contains actual samples of the sounds of the Quemahoning 

countryside, is available at WWW.SPRINGWATERMUSIC.COM. The barn, across the road, is also in 

excellent condition and is owned by a local funeral director who added a grand residence to his side of 

the farm. This year’s annual Miller-Baer Family Reunion will be held at the old homestead July 20. 

http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/baerindex.doc
http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/que.doc
http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/que.doc
http://www.springwatermusic.com/
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Howard and Sarah took over her parents’ farming operation after they were married for a 

reported $1,600 and raised five sons: Omar, Clyde, Richard, Charles, and Alton. Richard Orville (1920- 

) [see "35 Missions Over Germany: Richard O. Miller in WW II"] married Hilda Elizabeth Krause 

(1921-1997) [see E-Gen: Krause], moved off the farm after the Second World War, and raised two 

children. Their second child is Susan, my wife. Howard, Sarah, and their family all attended St. James 

Lutheran Church between Boswell and Jerome, off Rt. 60l, just a few miles from the family farm. That 

elegant wooden structure was built by a distant cousin, Josiah Miller. Howard, Sarah, and Hilda are 

buried there with other Miller and Baer family members. Richard and my wife and I plan to have our 

earthly remains placed there also. 

Two and a half centuries is a long way to trace anyone’s roots, but a fervent pride in family 

tradition has paved the road through the tangled forest of one of America’s most common names. Some 

of the coincidences and connections between my surname and my wife’s are truly amazing, yet I don’t 

expect to solve all the genealogical riddles in my lifetime. But, as I used to tell my kids on family 

vacations” “Getting there is half the fun.” We hope you enjoy the pages that follow and will even 

contribute in the future. Somerset County, recently called “America’s County” because of the miracle 

rescue of nine trapped miners from the Quecreek Mine last year, still echoes with the “Nine for Nine” 

slogan of former Governor Mark Schweiker who led the effort. It reminds me also of the nine 

generations of our Millers in America and in Pennsylvania who have led the way as farmers, as 

pioneers, and now as teachers and technologists in a new world.  
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• 8th Great-Grandfather Joseph Miller was born about 1725, likely in Germany, to unknown 

parents. 

 

• Joseph married Mary Unknown about 1745, likely in Germany. 

 

• Joseph immigrated, about 1760. 

 

• Joseph died unknown date, and unknown place, possibly Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/rom.doc
http://www.geocities.com/pearce2002/krauseindex.html
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• 7th Great-Grandmother Maria Eva Unknown was born 13 June 1748, likely in Pennsylvania, to 

unknown parents. 

 

• Maria married Joseph “Yost” Miller, about 1765, likely in Pennsylvania. 

 

• Marie died 20 September 1820, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in Friedline-

Miller Cemetery, in Coleman, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Headstone for Maria Eva Unknown found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

• 4th Great-Grandmother Mary Zimmerman was born 24 August 1826, in Quemahoning, Somerset 

County, Pennsylvania, to Michael Zimmerman, and Catherine Koontz. 

 

• Mary married Peter Ankeny III, on 25 February 1847, at the home of her father, in 

Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. Her story matches her husbands until his death 

in 1865. 

 

• As listed above, Mary received a Civil War Widows Pension. 

 

• In 1870, Mary lived in Davidsville, Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with her 

seven children. She was now a widow, but her parents lived on the same property. Her real estate 

was valued at $5,000, and her personal estate was valued at $1,400. Her parent’s personal estate 
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was valued at $3,300. Next door lived her brother Jacob Zimmerman, whose real estate was 

valued at $8,000 and personal estate $1,300. 

 

• In 1880, Mary lived in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with her three children. 

Her son Alonzo was a laborer, but they lived all around many Zimmerman relatives. 

 

1880 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Mary died 19 November 1903, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in IOOF 

Cemetery, in Stoystown, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Mary Zimmerman Headstone photos found on findagrave.com (her husband is listed on her headstone 

even though he is buried in Baltimore, Maryland), Also photo said to be Mary Zimmerman found on 

ancestry.com 
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• 5th Great Grandfather Judge Michael Zimmerman was born 9 February 1798, in Quemahoning, 

Somerset County, Pennsylvania, to Johannes Michael Zimmerman and Elizabeth Kimmel. 

 

• Michael married Catherine Kuntz/Koontz in 1820, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania.  

 

• In 1832, Michael was elected to County Commissioner. 

 

• In 1840, 1854, and 1855 Michael was elected to Quemahoning Township Justice of the Peace. 

 

• In 1840, Michael lived in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with six other family 

members. Two people were employed in agriculture. 

 

• On 8 October 1844, Michael was elected as a Pennsylvania Assemblyman, (State House of 

Representatives). 

 

• In 1850, Michael lived in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and three 

children. He was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $15,000 

 

1850 U.S. Census 
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• On 14 October 1856, Michal was elected to Associate Judge. 

 

• In 1860, Michael lived in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and a 15-

year-old girl named Nancy who was a servant. He was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at 

$9,000, and his personal estate was valued at $1,130. His son John and his family lived next 

door. 

 

1860 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1870, Michael lived in Davidsville, Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his 

wife. He was a retired farmer, and his personal estate was valued at $3,300. He lived in between 

his daughter Mary Ankeny, whose husband had recently died in the Civil War and his son. 

 

1870 U.S. Census 
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• Michael died 29 November 1878, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in the IOOF 

Cemetery, in Stoystown, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Headstone photos and obituary for Judge Michael Zimmerman found on findagrave.com 

    
 

Michael Zimmerman, Jr., son of Michael and Elizabeth Kimmel Zimmerman, was born in Quemahoning 

township, Somerset Co. February 9, 1798. He was reared on his father's farm until 1820 when he married 
Miss Catherine Koontz, daughter of John Koontz, Esq., of Brother's Valley township. He died November 

27, 1879 on his farm. His family consisted of two sons and two daughters: William, John H. Elizabeth 
(deceased by 1884) and Mary, who married Peter Ankeny. (Source: The History of Bedford, Somerset and 

Fulton Counties, Pennsylvania, 1884, Waterman, Watkins & Co.) 
 
Note: listed DOD does not match headstone. 

 

The Somerset Herald 

December 25, 1878 Edition Page 3 
OBITURY-Hon. Michael Zimmerman, father of William and John H. Zimmerman, and Mary Ankeny, widow 

of Peter Ankeny, deceased at the home of his son John nears Stoystown on Thanksgiving morning, 
November 28, 1878, between ten and eleven o'clock at the advanced age of 80 years, 9 months and 19 

days. 
The deceased was born one and a half miles west of Stoystown, February 9, 1798. As the Western fever, 

which tood [sic]away many a noble youth from Somerset's beautiful hills to the far, far west never took 
ahold of him, he died almost in sight of his birth place. He loved his native county, and could never see 

why any one should leave a county that "flowed with milk and honey, and had coal and sugar in the 

bargain.." "Her rocks and rills, her woods and templed hills" were especially lovely to him in his latter 
days. He took great pleasure in relating the events that transpired in those days when the sound of the 

stage-horn made the valleys and forests of Somerset ring with music. 
Judge Zimmerman as he was most commonly known, was an upright and just man; widely known 

throughout the county as an exceptionally kind and good man. He was a good host, knowing well how to 
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entertain his guests, and make them fell at home when under his care. 

He was particularly vigorous old man, and enjoyed excellent health all his life. He never was sick abed a 

day in his life, except the last day of his earthly existence. He was still able to read the Somerset Herald, 

the Reformed church Messenger, (in whose weekly visits he delighted) and the many books that filled his 

library. Without the use of spectacles. Unlike many octogenarians he traveled about a great deal. It 
always afforded him great pleasure to show the hills and mountains of Somerset to strangers. Seldom 

would he confine himself to the house. When the great Centennial was in full blast, and thousands were 

paying their tribute to America's greatest exhibition, he in his 79th year, was among the vast multitudes. 

Early on a rainy Monday morning he passed through Stoystown arriving in the city on Tuesday evening. 

While in the city he visited the Centennial grounds every day but one, and apparently took as deep an 

interest in seeing the grand display as any sight-seer of younger years. On Pennsylvania's day he 
remarked "We must go and make it the greatest of all days We will beat New York;" and he remained on 

the grounds and witnessed the fire works, returning home to his boarding place at 12:15 A. M. 

Though not a politician, he figured quite prominently in his day in public life. The office of trust that had 
been committed to his care were faithfully discharged. In 1832, (though this date is in dispute) in his 

thirty-fourth year, he was chosen County Commissioner. In 1840 Quemahoning township elected him 
Justice of the Peace for the first time. Having been found faithful, he was elected to fill the same office 

twice afterwards, in 1854-55. The most important office held by him was Assemblyman, and in which he 
performed the most important work of his life – for better or worse, futurity will disclose. To this office he 

was elected October 8, 1844. It was during the winter of 1845 that the State Legislature vainly balloted 31 
times for U. S. Senator. The candidates were Woodward, Cameron, and Cooper. Thirty-one times did Mr. 

Zimmerman vote for Cooper. On the 32nd ballot he kept tally; and his name being last on the roll, he 
changed his vote from Cooper to Cameron. Thus all that the Camerons probably are to-day, is due to Mr. 

Zimmerman. 
The last office held by him was that of Associate Judge to which he was elected October 14, 1856. 

He had been a life-long member of the Reformed church; baptized in infancy, and confirmed in his 19th 
year by Rev. Giesy, of blessed memory. In the church as well as in the state he figured quite prominently. 
At the age of 24 he was elected deacon, and ten years later he was elected to eldership. For many years 

he was the standing delegate to the Classis and Synods of the church. 

Thus has one more of Somerset's noble citizens gone to his rest. His remains lie in the Odd Fellow's 

Cemetery in Stoystown. 
For a period of more than half a century that he was a full communicant member of the church he never 

was absent from Communion. What an example! What a comfort to his children and grand-children! 
J. H. B 

STOYSTOWN, Dec. 20, 1878 
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Photo said to be Judge Michael Zimmerman found on ancestry.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Will of Judge Michael Zimmerman found of findagrave.com 
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• 6th Great-Grandfather Johann Michael Zimmerman was born 10 June 1763, in Pennsylvania, to 

Michael Zimmerman and Maria Magdalena Bauter or Sauter. 

 

• Michael married Elizabeth Kimmel, in 1782, in Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1811, Michael purchased 64 acres in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

Map of acres purchased by Michael Zimmerman found of findagrave.com 
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• Michael died 24 November 1823, in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is 

buried in Zimmerman Cemetery, in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Michael Zimmerman was born 22 May 1732, in Germany, to Hans Michael 

Zimmerman, and Anna Unknown. 

 

• Michael immigrated on 14 September 1753, from Rotterdam, Netherlands, onboard the ship 

“Edinburgh”.  
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• Michael married Maria Magdalena Bauter or Sauter on 23 October 1756, at the First Reformed 

Church in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1762, Michael purchased 100 acres called “Buck’s Park”, in Windsor, Lancaster County, 

Pennsylvania. 

 

• Michael served in the Revolutionary War first in 1776, as a Private in Captain Biever’s 

Company, 3rd York County Pennsylvania Militia, and later in 1781, in Captain Stone’s 

Company, of the Lancaster County, Militia.  

 

Pennsylvania, U.S., Veteran’s Burial Cards, 1777-2012 

 
 

 

• In 1784, Michael settled in three miles west of Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, 

on 424-acre tract named “Richland”. 

 

• In 1790, Michael was elected an elder of the Union Lutheran Congregation of Stoystown, 

Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• Michael died in 1802, in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in 

Zimmerman Cemetery, in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Transcription of Will of Michael Zimmerman found on ancestry.com 

Est. No. 1-1802 ---Michael Zimmerman will dated Aug. 24, 1795. Probated Feb. 25, 1802. Wife 

Magdalena to have all bonds and notes as long as she lives and does not marry again, and all her 

household furniture. To eldest son Michael Zimmerman, 5 pounds before the rest and then all shall 

share equal. To daughter Elizabeth, married to Michael Kimmel he has given 50 pounds which is her 

share and she shall not inherit anymore. Mentions daughter Magdalena who is to have the interest on 

her share which will fall back to the other brothers and sisters if she does not have children. Son 

Adam is to have horses and other gear and if he dies single his share shall be equally divided amongst 

brothers and sisters (not named). Wife Magdalena and eldest son Michael are Executors. Witnesses 
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Jacob Gibler, Gabriel Roth (Rhoads) and Adam Keefer. Total estate $895.79. Account filed Sept. 30, 

1803 

Headstone photo and notes for Michael Zimmerman found on findagrave.com (a few dates are 

off from sources found by the genealogist) 

 
 

 

MICHAEL ZIMMERMAN (166) (1732-1802) (REV WAR VET) arrived in America from Rotterdam, 

Holland on the ship "Edinburgh", landing at Philadelphia on 14 Sep 1753. He married 23 Oct 1756, 

Maria Magdalena Sauter (1731-1801) at the First Reformed Church in Lancaster, PA. In 1762 he 

obtained a warrant for a 100-acre tract in Windsor Twp., Lancaster, PA, patent name "Buck's 
Park". On 5 Jan 1764 be signed the constitution of the Union Reformed & Lutheran Congregation 

at Canadochly, where four of his children were baptized. Michael and Maria Zimmerman were the 

parents of ten children; eight girls and two boys. 

 

During the American Revolution he served twice, once as a private in Captain Jacob Bievor's 

Company, Third Battalion of York County in 1776. Later in 1781, he served again in Captain 

Stone's Company of the Lancaster County Militia. A Revolutionary War Marker was erected by the 

U.S. Government honoring his service in 1943. 

 
In 1784, the Zimmerman Family settled in Quemahoning Township, Somerset County, about 

three miles west of Stoystown on a 424-acre tract; date of the land warrant, 1 Jul 1784; patent 
name 'Richland'. In 1790, Michael Zimmerman was identified as an elder of the Union Lutheran 

Congregation of Stoystown. He died in 1802 and is buried in the family cemetery on the 
homestead farm. 
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• 7th Great-Grandmother Maria Magdalena Bauter or Sauter was born about 1735, in Germany, to 

unknown parents. 

 

• Maria married Michael Zimmerman on 23 October 1756, at the First Reformed Church in 

Lancaster County, Pennsylvania. Her story matches her husbands until her death.  

 

 

• Maria died in 1801, in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in 

Zimmerman Cemetery, in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. Her Headstone is 

missing, possibly under the dirt at this point, but her footer stone remains and is beside her 

husband. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 6th Great-Grandmother Elizabeth Kimmel was born about 1760, in York, York County, 

Pennsylvania, to Johann Philip Kimmel and Anna Christiana Henn. 

 

• Note: Elizabeth’s brother Jacob Kimmel served as a Private in 3rd Battalion of the York County 

Pennsylvania, Militia. 

 

• Elizabeth married Johann Michael Zimmerman, in 1782, in Pennsylvania. Her story matches her 

husbands until her death. 

 

• Elizabeth died 24 May 1826, in Berlin, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in 

Zimmerman Cemetery, in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandfather Johann Philip Kimmel was born 2 March 1724, in Germany, to unknown 

parents. 

 

• Philip married Anna Christina Henn about 1755, likely in Pennsylvania. 

 

 

• Philip died 7 April 1796, in Stoney Creek, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is possibly 

buried in Kimmel Cemetery, in Stoney Creek, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 



 81 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandmother Anna Christina Henn was born about 1725, in likely Pennsylvania, or 

Germany, to unknown parents. 

 

• Anna married Johann Philip Kimmel about 1755, likely in Pennsylvania. Her story matches her 

husbands until her death. 

 

• Anna died 7 September 1791, in Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is possibly 

buried in Kimmel Cemetery, in Stoney Creek, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 5th Great-Grandmother Catherine Koontz was born 20 February 1798, in Brothers Valley, 

Somerset County, Pennsylvania, to John Emmanuel Kuhns, and Elizabeth Glessner. 

 

• Catherine married Judge Michael Zimmerman in 1820, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania. Her 

story matches her husbands until her death. 

 

 

• Catherine died 7 February 1875, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in the IOOF 

Cemetery, in Stoystown, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Headstone of Catherine Koontz found on findagrave.com 
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• 6th Great-Grandfather John Emmanuel Kuhns was born in 1768, likely in Germany or 

Pennsylvania, to unknown parents. 

 

• John married Elizabeth Glessner about 1790, in Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1800, John lived in Brothers Valley, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with nine other family 

members. 

 

• In 1810, John lived in Brothers Valley, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with seven other family 

members. 

 

• John died 28 December 1842, in Berlin, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in the 

Reformed Church Cemetery, in Berlin, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Headstone photo for John Kuhns found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 6th Great-Grandmother Elizabeth Glessner was born 2 February 1769, likely in Pennsylvania, to 

Jacob B. Glessner, and Catherine Elizabeth Miller. 

 

• Elizabeth married John Kuhns, about 1790, in Pennsylvania. Her story matches her husbands 

until his death in 1842. 
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• Elizabeth died on 3 January 1854, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in the 

Reformed Church Cemetery, in Berlin, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Headstone photo for Elizabeth Glessner found on findagrave.com 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandfather Jacob B. Glessner was born 21 September 1733, in Germany, to unknown 

parents.  

 

• Jacob married Catherine Elizabeth Miller, in 1760, likely in Pennsylvania. 

 

• Jacob served in the Revolutionary War, and was commissioned on 10 December 1777 as a 2nd 

Lieutenant, in Brothers Valley 3rd Company, Bedford County Pennsylvania Militia. Jacob served 

under Captain Henry Rhoades. The unit was assigned to frontier duty. 

 

• In 1788, Jacob lived in Brothers Valley, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1790, Jacob lived in Brothers Valley, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with eight other family 

members. 
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• Jacob was murdered by Rev. Cyriacus Spanglenberg, on 21 March 1794, in Berlin, Somerset 

County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in the Reformed Church Cemetery, in Berlin, Somerset 

County, Pennsylvania. 

Cartoon telling the story of the murder on ancestry.com 

 
 

 

Headstone photo for Jacob B. Glessner found on findagrave.com 
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Excerpt from the book “History of Berlin Pennsylvania, Page 6 and 7, found on ancestry.com 
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Story about Jacob Glessner and his murder found on ancestry.com 
Jacob George Sr. Glessner's Biography 

Added by DianneHershberger on 15 Apr 2008 

Jacob Glessner was born 21 Sept 1732 and died March 21, 1794. He was married to Catharine Elizabeth Miller (born 25 

July 1734 and died Sept. 23, 1807). Jacob Glessner was a second lieutenant in Captain Henry Rhodes Company of 

Bedford County Militia, the company being assigned to frontier duty, fighting in the Revolutionary War. He and his 

wife Catharine settled on a farm about one mile southeast of Berlin. They became identified with the Berlin Reformed 

Church in which Jacob was an elder. He came to his death at the hands of his own pastor, Cyriaeus Spangenberg. 

 Cyriacus Spangenberg came to America as a Hessian soldier during the Revolutionary War. At the close of the war, he 

chose to remain in the America; being a man of some learning he turned to the ministry. In 1783 he presented himself 

before the Coetus meeting in Philadelphia for ordination. His bearing was more like that of a soldier than a minister and 

his request was denied. Again, the next year he presented himself with no better result. He then persuaded a certain 

preacher by the name of Philip Jacob Michael to ordain him. After his ordination he preached to some congregations in 

Shamokin. He had a wife living in Germany, and he intended to marry another wife here. On the day preceding his 

intended wedding, a letter from his wife in Europe came to light, which prevented him from caring out his design. He 

left there and was next heard from in Conocoheague Valley, near Chambersburg. His reputation followed him and again 

he moved. In 1788 he crossed the Alleghenies and settled in Berlin. After preaching there for three and a half months he 

was "hired in writing" on Nov. 26, 1788. Eventually information of his past reached the Berlin community. The officers 

of the congregation conducted further investigation. Perhaps the most active among the officers was elder Jacob 

Glessner. 

A congregational meeting was called, and the information was placed before the members. The meeting was held March 

19, 1794, in the old log church which stood near the present site of the Swartzenruber Mill in Berlin. Glessner remained 

silent until the vote was about to be taken when he arose and spoke strongly in favor of a change in ministers. 

When Jacob Glessner finished speaking Spangenberg sprang to his feet, drew a knife with which he stabbed Glessner 

twice, inflicting wounds from which he died two days later. Spangenberg was arrested, tried in the Bedford County 

Court House, (now Somerset) was found guilty and was hanged at Bedford (Somerset) on Sept 11, 1795. 

 

 

 

Another story about Spangenberg found on ancestry.com 
Cyriacus Spangenberg (Cyriacus Spangenberg Reidemeister) Reformed. Born about 1725-1730. Came to America about 

1780; called on Henry Melchior Muhlenberg on April 5 of that year. Appeared before the coetus in 1783, identified himself 

as a cousin of Samuel Dubendorff, and asked to be examined and ordained. Coetus refused his request on the grounds that he 

had already baptized without authority; that he had appealed for ordination to William Boos, who had no authority to confer 

it (and had indeed refused his request); and that his conduct had been "altogether more like that of a soldier and lawyer than a 

minister." Returned the next year with the same request. Coetus now told him the matter was in the hands of the Holland 

fathers. In 1785 the coetus reported to the fathers that Dubendorff had persuaded Philip Jacob Michael to ordain Spangenberg 

and that the latter had been about to marry an American wife when a letter from his European wife was discovered. That 

ended the relationship between Spangenberg and the coetus. He remained an independent minister. 

From as early as 1783 to 1786 served congregations in Snyder and Northumberland counties, north of the parish served by 

Dubendorff. His name (followed by the initials V.D.M.) appears on a 1783 petition from residents of Northumberland 

County addressed to the legislature. The petition concerned a disputed election in October of that year. From 1786 to 1788 he 

was in Cumberland and Franklin counties, serving Shippensburg, Besore's, and Grindstone Hill. Between 1788 and the end of 

his ministry in 1794 was in Bedford and Somerset counties. Was the first resident Reformed minister to the congregations 

there. Served Bedford (1788-1794), Berlin (1788-1794), and Salisbury (1789-1794). 

During a meeting in the parsonage in Berlin on March 19, 1794, after Spangenberg's alleged bigamy was discussed and 

whether the paster should be retained, Spangenberg assaulted with a knife and mortally wounded Elder Jacob Glessner. 

Spangenberg was arrested and charged with murder. 
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Writing on his behalf before the trial, Frederick Muhlenberg stated that he had known Spangenberg ever since he came to 

America. "I found him to be a Man of Letters, a true friend to this Country," he noted, "and as far as came within my 

knowledge of good moral Character." Although he had not been in contact with him for some years and did not know his 

state of mind at the time of the murder, Muhlenberg was "not inclined to believe that he committed the same willfully and 

with Malice aforethought." (Frederick Muhlenberg to whom it may concern, Philadelphia, March 27, 1795, ERHS, 

Lancaster) 

At his trial in April 1795, Spangenberg was found guilty and sentenced to death. Routinely, Governor Thomas Mifflin 

submitted papers in the case to Chief Justice Thomas McKean for his opinion "upon the circumstances that are alleged in the 

extenuation of the Convict's offence." In his response to the governor, the chief justice stated his finding that Spangenberg 

had been given "a fair and impartial trial," but argued that "there is something astonishing in the whole transaction, he must 

either have been influenced by a most furious and diabolical mind or been in some degree deranged." McKean concluded as 

follows: "upon the whole, as this unhappy man has been convicted some months ago, has been close confined in gaol (jail) 

for sixteen months past, is upwards of sixty five years of age and by the course of nature must soon answer to his God for the 

deeds done in the body, as he is of a holy profession and for many years has been deemed to have led a religious life, if the 

Governor entertains the least doubt of his sanity at the time he killed Glessner, that doubt under the foregoing circumstances 

should in my humble opinion operate rather on the side of mercy than on the side of justice." (Thomas McKean to Alexander 

J. Dallas, Philadelphia, July 28, 1795, ERHS, Lancaster) 

Acting finally upon the advice of the judges who conducted the trial and who recommended no mercy, Governor Mifflin 

issued the warrant for execution on September 11, 1795. Spangenberg was hanged on October 10, 1795 in Bedford. 

Glenn W. Glessner - Quincy, Illinois 
 

 

Transcribed Will of Jacob Glessner 

Will of Jacob Glessner 

• 20 Mar 1794, Berlin, Somerset, Pennsylvania, USA 

In the Name of God, the Father and the Son and the Holy Ghost - Amen! 

I want to make it known that I, Jacob Glessmer, living in Brothersvalley township, Bedford County, 

decided with a clear mind yet a very weak body, to write my last will, to tell how I want it to be after my 

death. 

First of all, I trust my soul to the compassionate hands of the redeemer, Jesus, and my dying body to the 

cool lap of the soil. 

Secondly, I want and decide that my oldest son, Peter Glessner, should have the land of the plantation I 

lived on until now, which consists of about 220 acres, and he should also have all the farming equipment 

(four horses and carriages). My house in Berlin should also become his property. However, he should 

take care of my dear wife, his mother, Catherina Glessner, as long as she lives. He should give her all 

the necessities for living and give her 7 pounds 10 shillings in money each year. 

Thirdly, he, Peter, should give to his sisters of the cattle and small animals of each kind two: two cows 

and two sheep. 

Fourthly, my son Jacob should get the property on which he is living now. He may keep it but should 

give to the four youngest sisters equally 50 pounds in money until 1797, 25 pounds until 1798. 

Fifthly, my daughter, Anna Maria, also the wile of Heinrich Gutig should get the property near the 

plantation of Friedrich A1tvatter, but she should pay the money we have agreed on the 1st of June 1795, 

50 pounds yearly afterwards for 3 years, then, 25 pounds in the 1798 — and at once - until this is due - 
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in addition 150 pounds for my four daughters Elisabetha, Catherine, Margaretha - and give it out in 

equal parts. 

Sixth, my house in Berlin, on the 37th lot, beside the bush- lend of. Jacob Brubacher should be sold, and 

the money received for it should be divided equa11y among my four daughters. 

Seventh if there is any claims or even debts, my wife alone should be approached. 

That this is my last will and I want it to happen like this, I testify to with my own signature and seal 

Written in Berlin, Bedford County on the 20th of March 1794. 

Jacob Glessner   -   Seal 

  

ra_jacobs added this on 28 May 2010 

 add comment 

Transcription of Jacob Glessner, Sr.'s will, composed the day before his death. (Note that Somerset 

County at that time was included in Bedford County.) 

 

 

Story about the life of Jacob Glessner found on ancestry.com 
Jacob George Glessner Sr's Life and Deeds 

Jacob Glessner (also Glaessner and other spellings), a joiner by trade, was born in the Platinate region of Germany on Sept 

21, 1732 and died March 21, 1794 in Berlin, Pennsylvania. Both Jacob and his wife, Catherine, are buried in the Old 

Reformed Church Cemetery in Berlin.  It is believed that he arrived in Philadelphia aboard the ship Richmond that had sailed 

from Rotterdam, via Portsmouth, to America. 

Jacob and his brother Johann Heinrich seem to have sailed together (Pennsylvania German Pioneers Port of Philadelphia 

Arrivals, by Ralph Beaver Strassburger LL. D, Pa. German Society, 1934, pp. 684-685). There are indications that prior to 

moving westward to Bedford County, Jacob settled in York and Lancaster Counties in Central Pennsylvania. 

There are also indications that other brothers, Peter, William, and John had already settled in York County.  Peter earlier 

came to the Bedford County area in the 1750s or 1760s, prior to Jacob and Henry's (Heinrich) arrival in Brothers Valley 

Township around 1784 (Laurel Valley Meessenger, Aug 1984, p. 127) 

Jacob married to Catharina Elizabeth Muller (Mueller) (Miller) Miller (born July 25, 1734 and died Sept. 23, 1807). The first 

of his children were born in York: John Engle Glessner (1762 - 1783), who later drowned; Margaretha Glessner (1764 - 

1839), who married the Reverend Henry W. Giese; and Peter Glessner (1764 - 1836), who married Catherine Wagerline 

(Pauline Grieco, Glessner and Associates, A Family History). 

By the year, 1777, three militia companies were formed and attached to the First Battalion of the Pennsylvania Militia that 

was organized on December 10, 1777.  Jacob Glessner was appointed a second lieutenant in First Battalion, 3rd Company of 

the Bedford County, Pennsylvania Militia, commanded by Captain Henry Rhoads, a company assigned to frontier duty 

during the Revolutionary War. He served for one year. 

Jacob and his wife Catharina, who married about 1760 in Germany, settled on a farm about one mile southeast of Berlin. The 

area was called Brothers Valley Township.  Some historians say that three Glessner brothers: Jacob, Johannes Heinrich 

(Henry), and (Johann) Peter established the Berlin settlement, building the church and laying out the township.  Jacob was a 

founder of the Calvinistic Berlin Reformed Church, in which he also became an elder. He came to his death at the hands of 

his pastor, Cyriacus Spangenberg. 

Cyriacus Spangenberg came to America as a Hessian soldier during the Revolutionary War. At the close of the war, he chose 

to remain in the America; being a man of some learning he turned to the ministry. In 1783 he presented himself for ordination 

before the Coetus meeting (meeting of ministerial leadership) in Philadelphia. His bearing was more like that of a soldier than 

a minister and his request was denied. But the next year he presented himself again, with no better result. He then persuaded 
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a preacher by the name of Philip Jacob Michael to ordain him and after his ordination he preached to congregations in 

Shamokin, Pennsylvania. 

Spangenberg had a wife living in Germany but planned to marry another woman in America. On the day preceding the 

wedding, a letter from his wife in Europe came to light, which prevented him from marry again. He was next heard from in 

Conocoheague Valley, near Chambersburg. But his reputation followed him and again he was forced to move. 

In 1788 he crossed the Alleghenies and settled in Berlin. After preaching there for three and a half months he was "hired in 

writing" by the Berlin Reformed Congregation on Nov. 26, 1788. However, again, his past followed him. The officers of the 

congregation conducted further investigation. Perhaps the most active among the officers was elder Jacob Glessner. 

The officers and elders called a congregational meeting on 19 March 1794 to discuss what steps were necessary to deal with a 

letter which had come to light that indicated Spangenberg had a wife and children in Germany in addition to a wife with him 

in Berlin, Somerset County. The meeting was held in the old log church which stood near the present site of the 

Swartzenruber Mill in Berlin. 

Glessner remained silent until the vote was about to be taken when he arose and spoke strongly in favor of a change in 

ministers. When Jacob Glessner finished speaking, his words had enraged the minister who pulled out a knife and stabbed 

Glessner in the chest twice between the ribs, inflicting mortal wounds from which Jacob died within 48 hours. In his final 

hours, Jacob Glessner dictated his will, bequeathing his possessions to his wife and children.  His son, Peter Glessner was the 

executor of this will. 

Spangenberg was arrested, tried in the Bedford County Court House, (now Somerset).  He was found guilty and hanged at 

Bedford (Somerset) on Sept 11, 1795. 

Jacob Glessner, perhaps the best known of the Glessner family, who counts many good men and women among his offspring 

in the generations that succeeded him, is remembered for his hard work, his leadership, his faith, and his caring for his dear 

wife Catharina, and children, evidenced in language of his will.  Wherever the Glessner offspring may be found, they carry 

with them the seed of his leadership, humanity, creativity and caring. 

 

 

 

Story of the trial of Cyriacus Spangenberg for the murder of Jacob Glessner, found on 

ancestry.com 

In case of NO 1 of Oyer and Terminer Court of April Term, 1795, Bedford County, Pennsylvania, (now Somerset) we 

have the following which will throw some light on the tragic murder of Jacob Glessner. Bedford County to wit. 

The Grand Inquest for the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the Body of the County of Bedford upon their oaths and 

solemn affirmations respectively do present that Cyriacus Spangenberg late of the County of Bedford Clerk, not having 

the Fear of God before his eyes, but being moved and seduced by the instigation of the devil, the Nineteenth Day of 

march in the year of our Lord, one thousand seven hundred and ninety four, at the town of Berlin, in the township of 

Brothers Valley, in the County of Bedford, and within the Jurisdiction of this court with force and arms & cc in and 

upon a certain Jacob Glessner, in the peace of God and this Commonwealth then and there being, then and there 

feloniously, willfully, deliberately, premeditatedly, premeditatedly and of his allies before thought, an assault did make, 

and the said, Cyriacus Spangenberg, with a naked case knife, of value of one Shilling, which he, the said Syriacus 

Spangenberg, in his right hand then and there had and held, the aforesaid Jacob Glessner, in and upon the right side of 

the body between the ribs of him the said Jacob Glessner, and likewise in and upon the left side of the body between the 

ribs of him the said Jacob Glessner, then and terefeloniously, willfully;, deliberately, premeditatedly and of his malice 

before thought, did stab and strike, giving to him the said Jacob Glassner, then and there, with the knife aforesaid in and 

upon the right side of the body between the ribs of him the said Jacob Glassner, by the stabbing and striking aforesaid 

one Mortal Wound of the length of one inch, of the breadth of one inch and of the depth of two inches, and likewise 

giving to him the said Jacob Glassner, by the stabbing and striking aforesaid, then and there with the knife aforesaid in 

and upon the left side of the body between the ribs of him the said Jacob Glassner one other mortal wound of the length 

of one inch, of the breadth of one inch, and the depth of four inches, of which said two mortal wounds the said Jacob 
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Glassner from the aforesaid nineteenth day of march in the year of our Lord one thousand seven hundred ninety four, to 

the twenty-first day of March of the same year last aforesaid at the County aforesaid did languish and languishing did 

live on which the said twenty-first day of March in the year of our Lord one thousand seven hundred and ninety four at 

the county aforesaid, the said Jacob Glassner, of the said two mortal wounds did die, and so the inquest aforesaid, upon 

their oaths and affirmations aforesaid do say that the said Cyriacus Spangenberg, in manner and form aforesaid, the said 

Jacob Glassner, at the county aforesaid, feloniously, willfully, deliberately premeditatedly and of his malaise before 

thought, did kill and murder against the peach and dignity of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, & cc. 

                                                   JARED INGERSOLL, 

                                                   Atty. General 

Cyriacus Spangberg was found guilty and was hanged in the top of the now Somerset County Court House on September 

11, 1795. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandmother Catherine Elizabeth Miller was born 25 July 1734, in likely Germany, or 

Pennsylvania, to unknown parents. 

 

• Catherine married Jacob B. Glessner, about 1760, likely in Pennsylvania. Her story matches her 

husbands until his death in 1794. 

 

• Catherine died 23 September 1807, in Berlin, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in 

the Reformed Church Cemetery, in Berlin, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Headstone photo for Catherine Elizabeth Miller found on findagrave.com 
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• 3rd Great-Grandmother Amanda C. Ripple was born in August 1861, in Pennsylvania, to Samuel 

Ripple, and Mary Ann Mock. 

 

• In 1870, Amanda lived in Davidsville, Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with her parents 

and two sisters. Her father was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $300. The family lived 

in between Amanda’s father’s parents, and his brother’s family.  

 

1870 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Amanda married Josiah Ankeny about 1880, likely in Quemahoning, Somerset County, 

Pennsylvania. Her story matches her husbands until his death in 1926. 

 

• In 1930, Amanda lived in Lakemore, Summit County, Ohio, with seven children or 

grandchildren. She was a widow, did not own a radio, could read and write and rented their 

house for $22 a month. This census has her listed incorrectly ten years younger than she was. 

Her son-in-law Clive worked in a rubber factory, her son Alonzo was a carpenter, and her son 

John was a plasterer.  

 

1930 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1940, Amanda lived on Canton Road State Highway 8, in Springfield, Summit County, Ohio, 

with her son John and his family. She had a third-grade education. Her son John was a laborer on 
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the W.P.A. Ditch Project. He rented the house for $18 a month and had an eighth-grade 

education.  

 

1940 U.S. Census 

 

 
 

 

• Amanda died 5 October 1947, in Akron, Summit County, Ohio, and is buried in East Akron 

Cemetery, in Akron, Summit County, Ohio. See her headstone under the husband Josiah above. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 4th Great-Grandfather Samuel Ripple was born 26 October 1836, in Pennsylvania, to John Ripple 

and Sarah Replogle. 

 

• In 1850, Samuel lived in Richland, Cambria County, Pennsylvania, with his parents, and six 

siblings. His father was a farmer. 

 

1850 U.S. Census 

 
 

• Samuel married Mary Ann Mock in 1858, likely in Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1860, Samuel lived in Scalp Level, Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his parents, 

and four siblings. He was a farm laborer, as was his brother John. His father was a farmer, and 

his real estate was valued at $600, and his personal estate valued at $300. His soon to be wife 

and in-laws lived next door. 
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1860 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1870, Samuel lived in Davidsville, Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with wife and three 

daughters. He was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $300. The family lived in between 

his parents, and his brother’s family. 

 

• In 1880, Samuel lived in Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife, and four children. 

He was a farmer and they lived next door to his daughter Amanda and her husband.  

 

1880 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1900, Samuel lived in Ogle, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and daughter, her 

husband and their daughter. He was a farmer, owned his farm, had a mortgage on it, and cold 

read and write. 

 

1900 U.S. Census 
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• In 1910, Samuel lived at 407 21st Street, Windber, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his 

wife. He was a driver at an iron farm and owned his house outright. 

 

1910 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1920, Samuel lived in Windber, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife. He was a 

retired farmer, owned his owned farm outright, and was able to read and write. 

 

1920 U.S. Census 

 
 

• Samuel died of apoplexy on 14 January 1920, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania, and is buried 

in Olgetown Brethren Cemetery, in Ogletown, Somerset County, Pennsylvania.  

 

Headstone and Death Certificate found on findagrave.com 
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Photo said to be Samuel Ripple found on ancestry.com 
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• 5th Great-Grandfather John Ripple, Jr. was born 8 June 1802, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania, 

to John Ripple, Sr., and Sarah Kocher.  

 

• In 1810, John lived in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his parents, and 

seven other family members. 

 

• In 1820, John lived in Shade, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his parents, and eleven other 

family members. Three people were engaged in agriculture. 

 

• In 1830, John lived in Shade, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with six other family members. 

 

• John married Sarah Replogle in 1934, likely in Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1850, John lived in Richland, Cambria County, Pennsylvania, with wife and seven children. 

He was a farmer. 

 

• In 1860, John lived in Scalp Level, Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and five 

children. He was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $600, and his personal estate valued 

at $300. His sons Samuel and John were farm laborers. His son Samuel’s wife and son to be in-

laws lived next door. 

 

• In 1870, John lived in Davidsville, Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife. He was 

a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $500. His sons Samuel and John lived in the next two 

houses. 

 

1870 U.S. Census 
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• In 1880, John lived in Davidsville, Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife, and his 

son John, Jr.’s family. His son was a farmer. 

 

1880 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• John died after 1880, likely in Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 6th Great Grandfather John Ripple, Sr., was 1 February 1779, in Easton, Northampton, 

Pennsylvania, to Casper Ripple and Anna Regina Heimberger. 

 

• John married Sarah Kocher, about 1799, likely in Northampton County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1810, John lived in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with nine other family 

members. 

 

• John died 4 January 1848, in Old Ashtola, Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandfather Casper Ripple was born about 1755, in Easton, Northampton, 

Pennsylvania, to Johanne Nicholas Ripple, and Anna Maria Margaret Geltz. 

 

• Casper married Anna Regina Heimberger, about 1775, likely in Pennsylvania. 
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Pennsylvania, U.S., Veterans Card Files, 1775-1916 

 
 

 

• Casper served in the Revolutionary War as a Private in the Northampton County Pennsylvania, 

Militia. 

 

• In 1781, Casper lived in Allen, Northampton County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1786, Casper lived in Allen, Northampton County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1800, Casper lived in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with three other family 

members.  

 

• In 1810, Casper lived in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with three other family 

members.  

 

• In 1820, Casper lived in Quemahoning, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with two other family 

members.  

 

• Casper died 8 April 1829, in Hooversville, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 8th Great-Grandfather Johanne Nicholas Ripple was born 27 March 1714, in Germany, to 

unknown parents. 

 

• Nicholas immigrated in 1738, to Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. 
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• Nicholas married Anna Maria Margaret Geltz, about 1740, likely in Pennsylvania.  

 

• Nicholas died in June 1777, the same month as his wife, in Easton, Northampton County, 

Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

Pennsylvania, U.S., Wills and Probate Records, 1683-1993 
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• 8th Great-Grandmother Anna Maria Margaret Geltz was born 17 December 1723, likely in 

Pennsylvania, or Germany, to unknown parents. 

 

• Anna married Johanne Nicholas Ripple about 1740, likely in Pennsylvania. 

 

• Anna died 16 June 1777, the same month as her husbands will was probated, in Easton, 

Northampton, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandfather Anna Regina Heimberger was born 25 November 1751, likely in Germany 

or Pennsylvania, to unknown parents. 

 

• Anna married Johanne Casper Ripple, about 1775, likely in Pennsylvania. 
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• Anna died after 1779, likely in Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 6th Great-Grandmother Sarah Kocher was born 28 June 1790, in Pennsylvania, to unknown 

parents. 

 

• Sarah married John Ripple, Sr., about 1799, likely in Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1850, Sarah lived in Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with a relative named William 

Ripple. Her real estate was valued at $300, and she could not read or write. William was a 

laborer and could not read or write. 

 

1850 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Sarah died after 1850, likely in Somerset County, Pennsylvania.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 5th Great-Grandmother Sarah Replogle was born about 1798, in Bedford County, Pennsylvania, 

to George Replogle, and unknown mother. 

 

• Sarah married John Ripple, Jr. in 1934, likely in Somerset County, Pennsylvania. Her story 

matches her husbands until their deaths after 1880.  

 

• Sarah died after 1880, and is said to be buried in Sandyvale Cemetery, in Johnstown, Cambria 

County, Pennsylvania. 
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• 6th Great Grandfather George Replogle was born about 1755, in likely Lancaster County, 

Pennsylvania, to Johann Reinhart Replogle, and Barbara Unknown.  

 

• George married unknown woman, mother of Sarah, about 1775, likely in Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1800, George lived in Woodbury, Bedford County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• George married Mary Stouder in 1804, likely in Bedford County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• George died 26 December 1813, likely in Cambria County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandfather Johann Reinhart Replogle was born 8 December 1720, in Soultz, Sous 

Forets, Bas-Rhin, France, to unknown parents.  

 

• Reinhart married Anna Maria Erhard on 9 October 1749, in Soultz, Sous Forets, Bas-Rhin, 

France. 

 

• Reinhart immigrated 4 January 1751, and settled in York County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• Reinhardt married Maria Barbara Koenig, on 8 October 1753, in York County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• Reinhart married Barbara Unknown, about 1760, likely in, Lancaster County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1773, Reinhart purchased 150 acres called “The Resurvey” in Frederick County, Maryland. 

 

• In 1775, Reinhart moved to Bedford County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1777, Reinhart and family lived through the Indian Uprisings in Bedford County, 

Pennsylvania. 

 

• Inn 1778, Reinhart served in the Revolutionary War, as a Private in Captain Patrick Hainey’s 

Company, in the Bedford County Pennsylvania Militia. 

 

• Reinhart died in 1796, in Woodbury, Bedford County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in Snyder 

Cemetery, Bakers Summit, Bedford County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

Story written about Reinhart Replogle by patti830, found on ancestry.com"Rinehart Replogle, the 

progenitor of the Replogles of Morrison's Cove, was of German descent.  He settled in what is now 
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Bloomfield township early--probably before the close of the revolution.  He was the great-

grandfather of the Replogles of Woodbury township. 

While he was making improvements, one of his daughters (Margaret) was captured by the Indians, 

who broke in upon a husking party.  She was with the savages a considerable time.  She was urged 

to marry a young brave, and to avoid such a fate, determined to escape.  She managed to elude the 

vigilance of her captors and at length found her way home, though almost exhausted by exposure 

and hunger.  She had been several days without food, when in her wanderings she discovered the 

remains of a polecat, a part of which she ate, and so gained strength to continue her journey. 

Rinehart Replogle Sr. was the father of fourteen children.  He died at the age of seventy-two, and at 

his death had one hundred and twenty-six grand-children and several great-grandchildren." 
 

Story written about Reinhart Replogle by mbritton60, found on ancestry.com 
13. JOHANN REINHARD7 REBLOGEL (Philipp6, Andreas5, Hans*. AnstatP, Hans2, Matern*) was born on 8 Dec 1720 

at Soultz Sous Forets, Bas-Rhin, France. He was christened on 11 Dec 1720 at Soultz Sous Forets, Bas-Rhin, France. He 

married Anna Maria Erhard, daughter of Niclaus Erhard, on 9 Oct 1749 at Soultz Sous Forets, Bas-Rhin. France. He 

married Maria Barbara Koenig. daughter of Abraham Koenig III and Anna Maria Weymart, on 8 Oct 1753 at York Co, 

PA. He died in 1796 at Woodbury Twp, Bedford Co, PA. He also went by the name of John Rinehart Replogle He also 

went by the name of Rinehart Replogle Sr. He has note To America from Alsace; name of ship and/or date of sailing is 

unknown after 4 Jan 1751. He was a Farmer. He was Lutheran & German Reformed. 

He has noted His son Rinehart (Jr.) is reported to be born at Berks Co., Pa., what is now Lancaster Co. PA, in 1759. But 

according to his age given in tax records at Bedford Co., PA, he was b. in'1763 between 1759 and 1763. He was taxed 

"The earliest tax list we have for York County (PA), including what is now Adams, for 1762, has no entry for a taxable 

whose last name begins with an R and who might have been a Replogle." - Ref 14838. John Rinehart Replogle was 

probably living with the Koenig family in 1762 in 1762 at York Co, PA. He has note According to family tradition and a 

county history, John Rinehart Replogle had fourteen children. But a possible additional child may be Anna Barbara 

Replogle, who m. Jacob Schreyer on 27 Aug 1764, at York Co, PA, near present-day Hanover, PA, St. Matthew's 

Lutheran Church. Her surname was spelled Reblegel on the church record. If Anna Barbara was not a child of John 

Rinehart Replogle, then she could have been a close relative, such as John Rinehart’s sister. She is identified there in this 

genealogy of the family in 1764. He was taxed the next list (after the 1762 list for York Co., PA) we have for Germany 

township, prepared late in 1767 for use in 1768, lists no one who by the stretch of my imagination comes out as 

Replogle." - Ref 14838. John Rinehart Replogle was probably living with the Koenig family in 1767 in 1767 at Germany 

Twp, York Co, PA. He has noted His daughter Maria Eva was baptized on 17 May 1767 at St. John's Evangelical 

Lutheran Church, Littlestown, York Co, PA. 

He has note 11 Apr 1770, Frederick Co MD: Bond for credit between John Rinehart Rippleogle and others, all of 

Frederick Co MD. farmers. "Anthony Havely, John Rinehart Rippleogle, Stephen Wible, John Welty, Philip Nell, Peter 

Coonce, John Grouce, all of Frederick County, Farmers, and Samuel Givings of Baltimore County, Gentlem(a)n. are held 

and firmly bound to Robert Couden and John Clapham, Page 4 19. 20. 21. viii. ix. X. xi. commissioners, for emitting bills 

of credit established by the act of Assembly of the Province of Maryland in the sum of 450 pounds Stirling to be paid to 

Laid commissioners ... bond for 450 pounds at rate mentioned in above act... at 4 % per annum ..." I “. None of the 

cosigners have names common in Frederick Co.- except for Coonce (Koontz, Coons, etc.) and they may have comprised 

several families. I a Peter Coonce estate was administered in Frederick Co in the 1780's, I have an index notation of it. 

Welty also appeared frequently in the records. On k 1790 census records Philip Nell and John Welty can be found in 

Frederick Co. It appears that the bond of 1776 (read 1770) may relate to the property he sold in 1778-Resurvey on 

Owings Chance. There is no indication that John Rinehart Replogle purchased the property- and one of the parties to 
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the bond was Samuel Owings. Junior of Baltimore Since we don't have a purchase record, it was probably either an 

estate settlement, or a settlement in tome other court action" [on 11 Apr 1770 at Frederick Co, MD. He has noted His 

son Jacob was baptized on 13 Sep 1771 at Salem Reformed Church, Hagerstown, Frederick Co, IMD. He has note 11 Aug 

1773, Frederick Co MD: "In the land records of Frederick Co., Md. p. 265 is the Indenture made 11 Aug 1773 between 

[Mathias Oatt (Ott) of Frederick County, MD, farmer, and Rinehart Replogle, farmer, of the same County. Mathias Oatt 

for 550 pounds current money of Maryland sold to Rinehart Replogle land called The Survey' - patented by said Oatt 

6th Sept. 1754. 150 acres. Signed Mathias Oatt. Wit: John Stull, William Baird" on 11 Aug 1773. He was the 11 Aug 

indenture was recorded on 23 Aug 1773 at Frederick Co, MD. He has note 14 Nov 1774, Frederick Co MD: A recorded 

indenture, where Rinehart Rapploogle sold to Mathias Smisser "Resurvey on Smith's Lott" for 500 pounds on 14 Nov 

1774 at Frederick Co, MD. He has note 29 Nov 1774, Frederick Co MD: Barbara, wife of Rinehart Rapploogle, 

relinquished her dower rights for sale 14 Nov 1774 to Mathias Smisser on 29 Nov 1774 at Frederick Co, MD. He was 

taxed 1776, Frankstown Twp, Bedford Co, PA: Reynhart Rapelogle paid three shillings provincial tax as an "inmate," a 

term which meant "renter." He probably moved from Frederick Co., MD to Frankstown Twp between 1774 (when he 

sold his land Frederick Co) and 1776. The following is found in a record, probably by Liebegott: "Prior to his residence 

in Bedford Co. (PA), he (John Rinehart Replogle) evidently lived for a period of time in the Hagerstown community of 

Maryland, coming there from Lancaster Co., or perhaps Lebanon Co., formerly the northern part of Lancaster Co., PA." 

It seems more likely he came to Frederick Co MD from York Co PA in 1776 at Frankstown Twp, Bedford Co, PA. He 

lived in 1776. He has note 1777: One Bedford Co PA County history mentions that he and his family went through an 

Indian massacre. "Woodberry Twp. was organized 1785. There were settlers in the Cove as early as 1760. In 1777 Indian 

hostilities were so frequent that nearly all the inhabitants left the (Morrison's) Cove... Bloomfield Twp. was organized 

Dec. 8,1876. Previous to that date it was included in Woodberry Twp. The early settlers were chiefly of German 

descent, among the pioneers being Wagner, Bailey, Replogle and Clapper families. Rinehart Replogle settled in the 

county before the close of the Revolution, one of his daughters was captured by the Indians, was with them some time, 

but finally escaped" in 1777 at Bedford Co, PA. He was in military service in 1778 in Revolutionary war. He has note 

1778-1783: He and his sons "Adam and Reynard, Jr. Rephogal" are named on "List of soldiers who served as rangers on 

the frontiers, 1778-1783." His Revolutionary War service is private, Bedford Co, PA militia, Captain Patrick Hainey's 

company. He is listed as Rinehart or Rinehart, Sr. on the following records: "Soldiers of the Revolution who received 

pay for their services;" "Soldiers who received depreciation pay as per cancelled certificates" between 1778 and 1783 at 

Bedford Co, PA. He has note 1778- 1783, Bedford Co, PA: Reynard Rephogal, and his sons Reynard Rephogal, Jr. and 

Adam Rephogal served as rangers on the frontier between 1778 and 1783 at Bedford Co, PA. He has note 4 Jul 1778, 

Frederick Co MD: Indenture made between John Renard Replogle (wife, Barbara, relinquished her dower rights) and 

Ludwick Rimmel (or Kimble). John Renard Replogle sold Mr. Rimmel property named "Resurvey on Owings Chance" 

for $500. Deed recorded 19 July 1778, Indenture 4 June 1778. Rappleogle signed in German script on 4 Jul 1778 at 

Frederick Co, MD. He has note 19 Jul 1778, Frederick Co MD: 4 Jul indenture was recorded on 19 Jul 1778 at Frederick 

Co, MD. He was taxed 1779, Colerain Twp, Bedford Co, PA, known as Friend's Cove: Reinhart Rippleogle taxed for two 

horses, and for one cow in 1779 at Colerain Twp, Bedford Co, PA. He was in military service with "...Original 

documents in our custody, indicating that a certificate of public debt, Number 3492, in the amount of 7.10.0 (pounds) 

was issued in the name of Rynard Replogal, for a tour of Active Duty in the Bedford County Militia, which he 

performed as a member of Captain Samuel Moore's Company during the period May 15 - July 15,1780." - PA Historical 

and Museum Commission in 1780 at PA. He was taxed 1783, Frankstown Twp, Bedford Co PA: Rienhart Rippliogle 

taxed for 300 acres. Also, "In 1783 Reinhart Ripleagle (evidently a misspelling) owned 360 acres of land in Friend's Cove 

and Reinhart Ripplogle 300 acres in Frankstown township" in 1783 at Frankstown Twp, Bedford Co, PA. He was taxed 

1784, Colerain Twp, Bedford Co PA: Rinhart Ripleogl taxed for 360 acres, one house, ten white inhabitants in 1784 at 

Colerain Twp, Bedford Co, PA. He appeared on the census of 1784 at Colerain Twp, Bedford Co, PA. He lived in 1789 at 

Woodbury Twp, Bedford Co, PA. He was taxed 1789: Rinehart Rapleogle taxed at Woodbury Twp, Bedford Co. PA. -

1789 assessments in 1789 at Woodbury Twp, Bedford Co, PA. He appeared on the census of 1790 at Bedford Co, PA. He 

appeared on the census of 1790 at Woodbury Twp, Bedford Co, PA. He was taxed 1793: Rhinehart Riplogle, Sr. taxed at 

Woodbury Twp, Bedford Co., PA. - Assessment record in 1793 at Woodbury Twp, Bedford Co, PA. He was Date 

unknown: "Record Book R., p. 130, Bedford Co., PA gives 'Rinehart Replogel' and 'Rinehart Rippleogel' as witnesses to a 
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deed signed by the heirs of... John Brumbaugh" before 1796 at Bedford Co, PA. He has note Ref 6116, 7565, 7574, 7576, 

238, 9407. He has note Peres, 13 Sep 1983 p 4 Ref 5080. Peres, 8 Dec 1982 p 1 Ref 5066. Harmon, 2 Jan 1984 p 3 Ref 

5048. Betteridge, 20 Nov 1993 pp 1 & 4 Ref 7565 & 7567B. Peres. 29 Aug 1996 p 2 Ref 10043. He has note Extract from 

Dr. Weiser's book on Lutheran marriages and burials. - Ref 12549. He has sources. 

 

 

• Rinehart Replogle and others apply for credit, found on ancestry.com 
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• 7th Great-Grandmother Maria Barbara Koenig was born 27 January 1738, in Hoffen, Department 

du Bas-Rhin, Alsace, France, to Abraham Koenig III, and Anna Maria Weymart. 

 

• Barbara married Reinhart Replogle, on 8 October 1753, in York County, Pennsylvania. Her story 

matches her husbands until their deaths in 1796. 
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• Barbara died in 1796, in Woodbury, Bedford County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in Snyder 

Cemetery, Bakers Summit, Bedford County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandfather Abraham Koeing III, about 1710, likely in France, to Abraham Koeing II, 

and unknown mother. 

 

• Abraham married Anna Maria Weymart, likely in France. 

 

• Abraham died after 1753, likely in Pennsylvania.  

 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandmother Anna Maria Weymart, about 1710, likely in France, to unknown parents.  

 

• Married Abraham Koeing III, likely in France. 

 

• Maria died after 1753, likely in Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 4th Great-Grandmother Mary Ann Mock was born 14 November 1841, in Shade, Somerset 

County, Pennsylvania, to Philip Mock, and Mary “Polly” Crop. 

 

• In 1850, Mary lived in Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with her parents, and six siblings. 

Her father was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $300. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1850 U.S. Census 
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• In 1860, Mary lived in Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with her parents, sister, and a ten-

year-old girl, Hannah Felix. Her was a day laborer, his real estate was valued at $150, and his 

personal estate valued at $130. They lived next to her soon to be husband and in-laws. 

 

1860 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Mary married Samuel Ripple about 1860, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania. Her story matches 

her husbands until his death in 1920. 

 

• Mary died of pneumonia and general disability, on 2 August 1922, in Shade, Somerset County, 

Pennsylvania, and is buried in Ogletown Brethren Cemetery, in Ogletown, Somerset County, 

Pennsylvania.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Headstone photo and death certificate for Mary Ann Mock found on findagrave.com 
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• 5th Great-Grandfather Philip Mock was born about 1798, in East Saint Clair, Bedford County, 

Pennsylvania, to Jacob Mock and Barbara Berkheimer. 

 

• Philip married Mary “Polly” Crop about 1825, likely in Bedford County, Pennsylvania. 
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• In 1830, Philip lived in Saint Clair, Bedford County, Pennsylvania, with likely his wife and three 

children. 

 

• In 1840, Philip lived in Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with likely his wife and six 

children. One person was employed in agriculture, and one person over 20 years old could not 

read and write. 

 

• In 1850, Philip lived in Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and seven children. 

He was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $300. 

 

• In 1860, Philip lived in Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife, two children and a 

ten-year-old girl, Hannah Felix. He was a day laborer, his real estate was valued at $150, and his 

personal estate valued at $130. They lived next to their daughters soon to be husband and in-

laws. 

 

• Philip died after 1860, likely in Somerset, Somerset County, Pennsylvania.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 6th Great Grandfather Jacob Mock was born 7 April 1774, in Bedford County, Pennsylvania, to 

Peter Mock, Sr., and Elizabeth Sample. 

 

• Jacob married Barbara Berkheimer about 1790, likely in Bedford County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1790, Jacob lived in Bedford County, Pennsylvania, with six other family members. 

 

• In 1800, Jacob lived in Saint Clair, Bedford County, Pennsylvania, with three other family 

members. 

 

• In 1810, Jacob lived in Saint Clair, Bedford County, Pennsylvania, with five other family 

members. 

 

• In 1820, Jacob lived in Saint Clair, Bedford County, Pennsylvania, with five other family 

members. One person was employed in agriculture. 

 

 

• In 1830, Jacob lived in Greenfield, Bedford County, Pennsylvania, with eleven other family 

members. 

 

• In 1838, Jacob purchased eighty-seven acres in Bedford County Pennsylvania. 

 

Pennsylvania, U.S., Land Warrants and Applications, 1733-1952 



 114 

 



 115 

• In 1840, Jacob lived in Saint Clair, Bedford County, Pennsylvania, with eight other family 

members. One person was employed in agriculture. 

 

• About 1840, Jacob married Elizabeth Beckley, likely in Bedford County, Pennsylvania. 

 

• In 1850, Jacob lived in Saint Clair, Bedford County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and three 

children. His real estate was valued at $320. His son Henry was a farmer. 

 

1850 U.S. Census 

 
 

• Jacob died 10 March 1853, in Saint Clair, Bedford County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in Horn 

United Methodist Church Cemetery, in Alum Bank, Bedford County, Pennsylvania. 

 

Headstone photo of Jacob Mock found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandfather Peter Mock was born 1 May 1742, in Germany, Peter Mock and Margaret 

Fox. 
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• Peter married Elizabeth Sample, about 1770, likely in Maryland or Pennsylvania. 

 

• Peter served in the Revolutionary War, as a Private in Captain Jacob Sarers Company, 

Washington County Maryland Militia. 

 

• Peter died 18 February 1817, in Bedford County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in Peter Mock 

Graveyard, in Bedford County, Pennsylvania.  
 
 
 
 
 

Excerpt taken form “Genealogy of the Mittong Family and Connections”, Chapter IV, Pages 33-37, to 

see the entire book use the following link- 

https://www.ancestry.com/imageviewer/collections/11019/images/dvm_GenMono000291-00039-

1?pId=64 
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• 7th Great-Grandmother Elizabeth Sample was born 13 August 1748, in Washington County, 

Maryland, to Cunningham Sample, and Agnes Welsher.  
 

• Elizabeth married Peter Mock, about 1770, likely in Maryland or Pennsylvania. Her story 

matches her husbands until her death. 
 

• Elizabeth died in 1813, in Reynoldsdale, Bedford County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in Peter 

Mock Graveyard, in Bedford County, Pennsylvania.  
 

 

 

 

• 8th Great-Grandfather Cunningham Sample, Esquire was born 2 May 1723, in Renfrewshire, 

Scotland, to unknown parents.  
 

• Cunningham was a lawyer, and Justice of the Peace in York County, Pennsylvania for many 

years. 
 

• Cunningham married Agnes Welsher on 20 April 1746, in Pennsylvania.  
 

• In 1772, Cunningham held the indenture of a man named Murdock Patterson, who had arrived 

from Rotterdam, Holland, for three years, and six months, for thirteen pounds, while living in 

Faun, York County, Pennsylvania. 

 

•  In 1780, Cunningham lived in Fawn, York County, Pennsylvania. 
 

• In 1790, Cunningham lived in Fawn, York County, Pennsylvania. 
 

•  In 1798, Cunningham owned two slaves. 
 

List of Slave Owners in York County, Pennsylvania, in 1798 
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• In 1800, Cunningham, lived in Chanceford, York County, Pennsylvania, with four other family 

members and one slave. 
 

• Cunningham died 13 October 1803, near Peach Bottom Ferry, York County, Pennsylvania. 
 

Obituary of Cunningham Sample, Esquire, found on findagrave.com 

 
 

Obituary for Cunningham Sample, Esquire, in Poulson’s American Dailey Advertiser, in Philadelphia, 

Pennsylvania, 28 October 1803. 

 
 

 

 

 

Article placed by Cunningham Sample, Esquire, in the Delaware Gazette, in Wilmington, 

Delaware, 20 July 1793 
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Record of Sample births, possibly from a family bible, found on ancestry.com 
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• 8th Great-Grandmother Agnes Welsher was born 1 May 1730, in York County, Pennsylvania, to 

Nathaniel Welsher and Elizabeth Skinner. 
 

• Agnes married Cunningham Sample on 20 April 1746, in Pennsylvania. 

 

• Agnes died 18 October 1783, in York County, Pennsylvania, and is buried in Slate Ridge 

Cemetery, in Delta, York County, Pennsylvania. 
 

Headstone photos of Agnes Welsher found on findagrave.com 

    
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 9th Great-Grandfather Nathaniel Welsher was born about 1700, possibly in Pennsylvania, to 

unknown parents. 
 

• Nathaniel married Elizabeth Skinner about 1725, possibly in Pennsylvania. 

 

• Nathaniel died after 1730, likely in Pennsylvania. 
 

 

 

 

 

• 9th Great-Grandmother Elizabeth Skinner was born about 1700, possibly in Pennsylvania, to 

unknown parents. 
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• Elizabeth married Nathaniel Welsher about 1725, possibly in Pennsylvania. 
 

• Elizabeth died after 1730, likely in Pennsylvania. 
 

 

 

 

 

• 6th Great-Grandmother Barbara Berkheimer was born about 1770, likely in Bedford County, 

Pennsylvania, to unknown parents. 

 

• Barbara married Jacob Mock about 1790, likely in Bedford County, Pennsylvania. Her story 

matches her husbands until her death. 

 

• Barbara died 9 May 1838, in Saint Clair, Bedford County, Pennsylvania, and is likely buried in 

Horn United Methodist Church Cemetery, in Alum Bank, Bedford County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 5th Great-Grandfather Mary Polly Crop was born about 1801, in Bedford County, Pennsylvania, 

to unknown parents.  

 

• Polly married Philip Mock about 1825, likely in Bedford County, Pennsylvania. Her story 

matches her husbands until their deaths after 1860. 

 

 

• Polly died after 1860, likely in Somerset County, Pennsylvania. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 2nd Great-Grandmother Mary Harriet Powell was born in November 1889, in Salisbury, Somerset 

County, Pennsylvania, to William J. Powell and Lena Leota Guptill. 

 

• In 1900, Harriet lived in Elk Lick, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with her parents and seven 

siblings. Her father was a coal miner, owned his own house with a mortgage, and could read and 

write. Her father’s father was born in Wales and his mother was born in England. 
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1900 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Harriet married John Schick Ankeny on 22 April 1908, in Somerset County, Pennsylvania. Her 

story matches her husbands until after 1930, when it appears that they divorced.  

 

• Harriet married Henry Bauer on 6 November 1937, in Summit County, Ohio. Henry was from 

Hungary.  

 

Summit County, Ohio, U.S., Marriage Records, 1840-1980 

 
 

 

• In 1940, Harriet lived at 596 Wyandotte Street, Akron, Summit County, Ohio, with her husband, 

son James, and stepson Henry. Her husband was a draftsman at a rubber factory. He owned the 

house, and it was valued at $3,000. He was not a citizen. 
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1940 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Harriet married Jack Hoxie. 

 

• Harriet died 29 June 1985, in Shirley, Van Buren, Arkansas. 

 

Obituary for Harriet Powell-Ankeny-Bauer-Hoxie published in The Akron Beacon Journal, in Akron, 

Summit County, Ohio, on 30 June 1985 

 
 

 

 

 

 

• 3rd Great-Grandfather William J. Powell was born 1 October 1861, in Pennsylvania, to Jenkin 

Powell and Aynthy Mary Morgan. 

 

• In 1870, William lived in Greensburg, Hempfield, Westmoreland County, Pennsylvania, with his 

mother and four siblings. His mother is listed as keeping house and her real estate was valued at 

$500, and personal estate at $200. It is unknown where his father was. 
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1870 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• William married Lena Leota Guptill on 18 December 1887, in Salisbury, Somerset County, 

Pennsylvania. 

 

Pennsylvania, U.S. Marriages, 1852-1968 

 
 

 

• In 1900, William lived in Elk Lick, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and eight 

children. He was a coal miner, owned his own house with a mortgage, and could read and write. 

His father was born in Wales and his mother was born in England. 

 

• In 1910, William lived in Paint, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife, and nine 

children. He was a coal miner, rented his house and cold read and write. His son Evan was a coal 

miner, his son James was a news boy, and his son John was an errand boy for a drug store. 
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1910 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1920, William lived at Alphis Court, Akron, Summit County, Ohio, with his wife, and seven 

children. He was a rubber worker in a factory and rented his house. This census says that both of 

his parents were born in Wales, and they spoke Welch. His wife parents were born in Maine and 

Massachusetts. His son John was a rubber worker, James was a plasterer, and Harvy was a 

timekeeper at a factory. 

 

1920 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1930, William lived at 773 Jason Avenue, in Akron, Summit County, Ohio, with his wife and 

his son Harvy, his wife, and his son. This census again says that his father was born in Wales and 

his mother England. His son was a machinist at a rubber company, and owned his own home 

valued at $5,000. 

 

1930 U.S. Census 
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• In 1940, William lived at 625 Market Street, Akron, Summit County, Pennsylvania, with his 

wife. He had an 6th grade education, and his wife 8th grade. He was not working and didn’t have 

an income. 

 

1940 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1950, William lived at 5338 3rd Avenue, Los Angles, California, with his wife.  

 

1950 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• William died 16 May 1952, in Los Angles, California.  

 

 

 

 

 

• 4th Great-Grandfather Jenkin Powell was born about 1835, in Wales, to unknown parents. 

 

• Jenkin married Aynthy Mary Morgan about 1855. 

 

• Jenkin may have died before 1870, likely in Westmoreland County, Pennsylvania.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 4th Great-Grandmother Aynthy Mary Morgan was born about 1837, in England, to unknown 

parents. Her name may be Cynthia, the only place her name is found is the 1870 Census and her 

first name is hard to read. 

 

• Anythy married Jenkin about 1855. 

 

• Aynthy died after 1870, likely in Pennsylvania.  
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• 3rd Great Grandmother Lena Leota Guptill was born 7 July 1862, in Ohio, to Beniah Guptill, and 

Harriet M. Bristow or Bristol. 

 

• In 1870, Leota lived in Elk Lick, Salisbury, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with her parents, 

brother, and sister, and her husband Theophilus Wagner and his wife, who were also from 

Maine, as was Leota’s father. Her father was a “shook maker” who made wood parts for barrels. 

Her mother was from Massachusetts.  

 

1870 U.S. Census 

 
 

• In 1880, Leota lived in Falls City, Fayette County, Pennsylvania, with her parents, and her 

brother James. Her father was a cooper.  

 

1880 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Leota married William J. Powell on 18 December 1887, in Salisbury, Somerset County, 

Pennsylvania. Her story matches her husbands until his death in 1952.  

 

• In 1950, Leota registered to vote in Los Angles, and registered as a Democrat. 

 

• Leota died on 22 August 1956, in Los Angeles, California. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 4th Great Grandfather Beniah Guptill was born 20 February 1826, in Kesar Falls, York County, 

Maine, to James Guptill, and Elsah Alice True. 
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• In 1850, Beniah lived in Portland, Cumberland County, Maine, with may be his brother 

Humphry’s family, and his brother James. All three of them were coopers.  

 

1850 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Beniah married Harriet M. Bristow on 16 March 1851, in Portland, Cumberland County, Maine. 

 

• In 1870, Beniah lived in Elk Lick, Salisbury, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his wife, two 

children, daughter Alice, and her husband Theophilus Wagner, who was also from Maine, as was 

he. He was a “shook maker” who made wood parts for barrels. His wife was from 

Massachusetts.  

 

• In 1880, Beniah lived in Falls City, Fayette County, Pennsylvania, with his wife and two 

children. He father was a cooper.  

 

• In 1900, Beniah lived in Elk Lick, Somerset County, Pennsylvania, with his daughter Alice’s 

family. He was a widower, and he could read and write. His son-in-law, and two grandsons were 

coal miners. 

 

1900 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Beniah died after 1900, possibly on 20 April 1901, in Elk Lick, Salisbury, Somerset County, 

Pennsylvania. 
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• 5th Great Grandfather James Guptill was born 9 June 1788, in North Berwick, York County, 

Maine, to Daniel Guptill, and Sarah Morrell. 

 

• James married Elsah Alice True on 12 October 1809, in Cornish, York County, Maine. 

 

• In 1850, James lived in Parsonfield, York County, Maine, with his daughter Louisa, her family 

and four other family members. He was a laborer. His son-in-law Sylvester was a farmer, and his 

real estate was valued at $1,500.  

 

1850 U.S. Census 

 

 
 

 

• In 1860, James lived in Porter, Oxford, Maine, with his daughter Nancy and her family. He was a 

laborer. His son-in-law Lorenzo was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $1,700, and his 

personal estate valued at $972. 

 

1860 U.S. Census 

 



 136 

• James died 15 April 1865, in Porter, Oxford County, Maine, and is buried in Kezar Falls Burial 

Ground, in Kezar Falls, Oxford County, Maine. 

 

Headstone for James Guptill found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 6th Great-Grandfather Daniel Guptill was born 2 March 1749, in North Berwick, York County, 

Maine, to Thomas Gubtail, and Abagail Abbot. 

 

• Daniel married Sarah Morrell 11 May 1773, in North Berwick, York County, Maine. 

 

• Daniel serves in the Revolutionary War as a Corporal in Captain John Smith’s Company, of 3rd 

York County Maine Regiment, which fell under the Massachusetts Militia. 

 

 

Excerpt from the “Maine Historical Genealogical Recorder,” Volume VIII, 1895, Number 2: page 84 
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• In 1790, Daniel lived in Framesborough, York County, Maine, with nine other family members.  

 

• In 1810, Daniel lived in Cornish, York County, Maine, with nine other family members. 

 

• Daniel died 3 August 1815, in Cornish, York County, Maine. 
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• 7th Great-Grandfather Thomas Guptill was born 26 May 1721, in Berwick, York County, Maine, 

to Nathaniel Gubtail, and Mary Issleton. 

 

• Some confusion exists about this Thomas and Abagail, and they are possibly confused with 

another couple. 

 

• In 1748, Thomas lived in Berwick, York County, Maine. 

 

• Thomas married Abagail Abbot on 30 August 1764, in Berwick, York County, Maine. 

 

• Thomas died about 1800, possibly in Waterbury, Washington County, Vermont. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 8th Great-Grandfather Nathaniel Guptill was born 11 November 1685, in likely England, to likely 

Thomas Guptill and Mary Abbott. 

 

• Nathaniel married Mary Issleton 30 September 1708, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New 

Hampshire. 

 

• Nathaniel died in 1762, in South Berwick, York County, Maine. 

 

Excerpt from book “Boston and Eastern Massachusetts”, page 857, found on ancestry.com 

 
 

 



 139 

• 8th Great-Grandmother Mary Issleton was born 11 November 1688, likely in Portsmouth, 

Rockingham County, New Hampshire, to unknown parents. 

 

• Mary married Nathaniel Guptill 30 September 1708, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New 

Hampshire. Her story matches her husbands until her death. 

 

• Mary died in 1759, in South Berwick, York County, Maine. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandmother Abagail Abbott was born possibly in 1725, in Berwick, York County, 

Maine, to unknown parents. 

 

• Some confusion exists about this Thomas and Abagail, and they are possibly confused with 

another couple. 

 

• Abagail married Thomas Guptill on 30 August 1764, in Berwick, York County, Maine. Her story 

matches her husbands until his death. 

 

• Abagail died possibly in 1821, in Waterbury, Washington County, Vermont. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 6th Great-Grandmother Sarah Morrell was born 22 December 1756, in Berwick, York County, 

Maine, to Thomas Morrell and Abigail Johnson. 

 

• Sarah married Daniel Guptill on 11 May 1773, in North Berwick, York County, Maine. Her 

story matches his until his death. 

 

• Sarah died 22 July 1841, in Cornish, York County, Maine. 
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• 7th Great-Grandfather Thomas Morrell was born 19 February 1733, in Berwick, York County, 

Maine, to Peter Morrell, and Sarah Peaslee. 

 

• Thomas married Abigail Johnson on 9 May 1754, in Amesbury, Massachusetts. 

 

• In April 1760, Thomas was the Defendant in a trespassing case in Berwick, York County, Maine. 

 

• Thomas died 9 November 1815, in Cornish, York County, Maine. 

 

 

 

 

Massachusetts, U.S., Wills and Probate Records, 1635-1991 
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• 8th Great-Grandfather Peter Morrell was born 16 September 1709, in North Berwick, York 

County, Maine, to John Morrell, and Hannah Dixon. 

 

• Peter married Sarah Peaslee on 27 August 1731, in Amesbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

• Peter married Elizabeth Sawyer Brown after 1790, likely in Berwick, York County, Maine. 

 

 

• In January 1745, Peter was the Defendant in a trespassing case in Berwick, York County, Maine. 

 

• In 1754, Peter’s daughter was attacked by Indians.  

 

Story found on ancestry.com 

The name of Picture Pond came from the “Picture Tree” standing on its shore, which received its 

name from the following circumstance: About 1754, “a daughter of Peter Morrell, a Quaker, on the 

north east side of Berwick, went out on a Sunday morning into the woods, near her father’s house, 

to gather hemlock bows (boughs) for a broom; the savages shot her and carried away her head, not 

having time to take off her scalp.” When they reached Picture Pond they engraved an image of the 

child upon an old pine tree, which for years was a noted landmark in that vicinity. 

 
 

• In 1790, Peter lived in Berwick, York County, Maine, with eight other family members. 

 

• In 1800, Peter lived in Berwick, York County, Maine, with one other family member. 

 

• Peter died 11 November 1801, in North Berwick, York County, Maine. 
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• 9th Great-Grandfather John Morrell was born in 1675, in Kittery, York County, Maine, to John 

Morrell, and Sarah Hodson. 

 

• John married Hannah Dixon about 1705, likely in York County, Maine. 

 

• John died 17 May 1718, in in Kittery, York County, Maine. 

 

 

 

 

Excerpt from the book “The City of Gardiner”, page 653, found on ancestry.com 
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Excerpt from the documents to put the Old Morrell House on the Register of Historic Places, found 

on ancestry.com. (Some of the dates do not line up correctly)

 
 

Photos of the Old Morrell house built by John Morrell, found on ancestry.com, with the 

description: This home was built by John Morrell/Morrill Jr (or II) toward the end of the 1600's. His 

father John Morrell deeded him the land in 1692 in which year John II built a log cabin. The cabin burnt 

and he constructed this home which at the time also had a large barn and other buildings. It was located 

in the "North Pasture". It was moved in the late 1900s to allow for the building of Pitney Bowes. It now 

sits at 27 Old County Rd in North Berwick Maine and is the home of the North Berwick Historical 

Society. I will post interior photos as well. The home was passed to his son Jedidiah, then to his son 

Abraham, then to his son Nathan, then to his daughter Elizabeth who married Tobias Sherbourne, thus 
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the homestead is also known for that name. They passed it to their son Morrell Sherbourne then to Leslie 

Morrell Sherbourne who lived there as of 1936. 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Photos of the house with an unknown family, one likely in 1920s and the other one about 1900, 

with the following description: This is the Morrell-Sherburne homestead in the original location. The 

King of England, for services rendered in the Indian Wars, gave a land grant of 200 acres of land to John 

Morrell I. John Morrell II (his son) built this homestead in early 1700s. 
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• 10th Great-Grandfather John Morrell was born in 1640, in England, to unknown parents. 

 

• IN 1659 John immigrated to Boston, Massachusetts. 
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• John married Sarah Hodson in 1677, likely in Massachusetts. 

 

• John received 200 acres from the King of England for his services rendered during the Indian 

Wars. 

 

• John died 6 September 1723, in Kittery, York County, Maine. 

 

Stories about John Morrell, found on ancestry.com 
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John Morrell, born in 1640 as shown by a Deposition, Land Grant in 1668. He was a mason.  In 1676 he settled at 

"Cold Harbor," in what is now known as Eliot, Maine.  He married, before 1667, Sarah, dau. of Nicholas and 

Elizabeth ________Hodsdon.   He was living in 1720.  He was licensed to keep a ferry and house of entertainment 

in 1686. REFERENCE: Old Kittery and Her Families, Author: E. S. Stackpole Publication: 190, Page 619.  

 
John Morrell is found in Ipswich, Massachusetts, in 1661, about four years before his marriage in Kittery. "Acting 

under this law [for avoiding the settlement of poor people], the Selectmen [of Ipswich] made complaint to the 

Ipswich Court in March 1661, that they had notified Daniel Grazier and John Morrill, Irishmen, that they were not 

willing to have them as inhabitants and they had not removed." We don't know of any other John Morrell in New 

England at this time, the only other family of this surname is Abraham Morrill of Salisbury, so it is highly likely 

that this is our John Morrell of Kittery. In addition, 1661 aligns well with the first mention of John in Kittery, which 

was in 1663, occupation "plasterer." This is the first clue we have as to the nationality of John Morrell, as it seems at 

least some folks in Ipswich believed he was of Ireland. REFERENCE: Ipswich in the Massachusetts Bay 

Colony, Thomas Franklin Waters (Ipswich MA: Ipswich Hist. Soc., 1917) 
  

John Morrell was born in 1640 and married Sarah Hodson (daughter of Nicholas of Kittery) in 1674 father-in-law 

deeded him Birch Point, part of his homestead, reserving right to water from the spring, which still furnishes an 

abundant supply of excellent water. Birch Point is in the town of South Berwick Maine and near a bridge that spans 

the river at that place.  Two years later John Morrell sold land to Abram Conley and bought a farm at “Coole 

Harbor” in present town of Elliot which was in the family until 1932.  It burned to the ground the next year.   He 

was licensed to conduct a ferry and keep a place of entertainment – one of the first taverns in this state. He was the 

first to embrace the Friends Religion (Quakers) which many of his descendants embrace to present time. There is 

little doubt that many a Quaker fleeing from persecution in Boston was carried on the Morrell ferry to safety “down 

east”.   John Morrell Jr. lived on part of the old homestead and was also a large landowner in the present town of 

North Berwick. He was a slave owner and a man of wealth and prominence in town. The Morrell’s, Winslow’s, 

Lowe’s, Peasley’s and Pope’s were all Quakers down to grandfather Paschal Pope Morrell who became a Methodist 

Minister. He was later a chaplain in the Civil War.  The first Quakers to arrive in America were viewed as dangerous 

heretics in many of the colonies. They were deported as Witches, imprisoned or hung.  REFERENCE: History of 

the Morrell Family (Online Record) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandmother Sarah Hodson was born in 1650, in Cambridge, Middlesex County, 

Massachusetts, to Nicholas Hodson and Elizabeth Winchell. 

 

• Sarah married John Morrell in 1677, likely in Massachusetts. 

 

 

• Sarah died 17 June 1710, in Kittery, York County, Maine. 
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• 11th Great-Grandfather Nicholas Hodson was born in 1611, in England, to unknown parents. 

 

• Nicholas married Elizabeth Winchell about 1640, in England, Massachusetts, or Maine. 

 

• Nicholas died 11 May 1704, in Wells, York County, Maine. 

 

Photo of Nicholas Hodson farm circa 1890, found on ancestry.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandmother Elizabeth Winchell was born in 1629, in England, to Thomas Winchell 

and Beatrice Winchell. 

 

• Elizabeth married Nicholas Hodson about 1640, in England, Massachusetts, or Maine. 

 

• Elizabeth died July 1686, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 9th Great-Grandmother Hannah Dixon was born 3 February 1684, in Kittery, York County, 

Maine, to Peter Dixon, and Mary Remick. 
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• Hannah married John Morrell about 1705, likely in York County, Maine. 

 

• Hannah died 20 December 1765, in Kittery, York County, Maine. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandfather Peter Dixon was born in 1655, in Kittery, York County, Maine, to 

unknown parents. 

 

• Peter married Mary Remick in 1679, likely in York County Maine. 

 

• Peter died 9 April 1718, in Kittery, York County, Maine. 

 

Stories about Peter Dixon found on ancestry.com 

Full text of "Piscataqua pioneers, 1623-1775; register of members and ancestors;" (pg. 69): 

DIXON, PETER.  He was the son of Peter Dixon who had a grant of land, 36 acres, in Kittery, 26 

March 1679; about that time, he married Mary Remick, daughter of Christian Remick.  He built his 

house on that lot, at a spot a short distance below Boiling Rock, and that locality has ever since been 

called "Dixon's Point."  The house of the late F. A. Dixon stands on the spot where Peter built the 

first house that stood on the land.  He was a ship-carpenter; he did not have a yard of his own but 

worked in the Diamond shipyard many years. 

Children: (1) Mary, b. 23 Sep 1679; m. John Staples.  (2) Hannah, b. 3 Feb 1684; m. 16 Dec 1701, 

John Morrell.  (3) Ann, b. 17 Jul 1689; m. 14 Sept. 1708, Thomas Jenkins; d. May 1749. (4) Peter, b. 

29 Feb 1692; m. Abigail Flanders. 

Descendant:  Joseph H. Dixon 

 

Peter DIXON of Eliot. Shipwright. First applied for town grant March 26, 1679. In 1694 

he was licensed to sell to churchgoers. In 1695 he was an innholder and ferryman. On the 

Jury in 1693-95, and 1700. On the Grand Jury in 1688, 1693, 1694, 1711. His will is dated 

1708, inventory of estate dated April 9, 1718. He married Mary Remick, living in 1704. 

Children: 

(1) Mary, b. Sept. 23, 1679; m. John Staples. (2) Hannah, b. Feb. 3, 1684; m. John Morrell. 

(3) Peter, b. Feb. 29, 1692, had the homestead. Married 28 Sept. 1712 to Abigail 

Flanders. Will dated 18 Feb. 1779 names 6 recorded children (3 living), also son Benjamin 

living 1783, and wife Elizabeth, and entails homestead on son Peter. (4thson) 
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• 10th Great-Grandmother Mary Remick was born 7 August 1658, in Kittery, York County, Maine, 

to Christian Remick, and Hannah Foster. 

 

• Mary married Peter Dixon, in 1679, likely in York County Maine. 

 

• Mary died in 1705, Kittery, York County, Maine. 

 

 

Stories about Mary Remick, including the will of her husband found on ancestry.com 

MARY2 Remick (Christian1) as written in REMICK GENEALOGY; compiled from the Manuscript of 

Lieutenant Oliver Philbrick Remick for The Maine Historical Society; by Winifred Lovering 

Holman, S.B., Life member of the New England Historic-Genealogical Society and member of the 

Maryland, Virginia, and Utah Historical Societies; 1933. 

Pages 22 - 23: 

     3.  MARY2 REMICK (Christian1), born in Kittery, 7 Aug. 1658, died after 1708.  She married 

about 1678, PETER DIXON who died between 1708 and 9 Apr. 1718. 

     Peter Dixon built his house at a point below Boiling Rock which has since been known as 

Dixon’s Point.  He was a shipwright. 

     Peter Dixon died testate: 

  “I Peter Dixon of Kittery . . . Shipwright . . . in perfect health . . . Do . . . make this my Last will & 

Testament. . 

    Item I give & bequeath unto my Loving wife Mary Dickson the one . . . third part of all my 

remaining personal Estate forever, and the one third part of my Real Estate in housing Land &cd, 

During her Natural Term of Life/ 

    Item  I give & bequeath unto my daughter Mary Staple one Cow to be delivered Immediately 

after my decease. 

   Item I give & bequeath unto my daughter Hannah Morrell fifteen pounds in money or Goods . . . 

five pounds whereof to be paid Immediately after my decease and the other ten pounds to be paid 

by my Son Peter Dickson within one year after he Shall arrive to the age of one & twenty years and 

in Case he Should die before he come to that age then to be paid by my Executrix out of my Said 

Estate or by any that Shall possess & enjoy my Said Sons Estate. 

     Item  I give & bequeath unto my daughter Ann Dickson one feather bed with all Furniture 

belonging thereto as bolster pillow & to be Delivered Immediately after my decease I likewise give 

unto my Said daughter Anne ten pounds in money or goods . . . to be paid by my Said Son within 

one year after he come to the age of twenty one years. 

    Lastly I give and bequeath unto my only Son Peter Dixon all & singular my houses Lands 

buildings Edifices Orchards gardens to me belonging . . .  the Said Peter Dixon to enter into full 

possession of the two thirds thereof Immediately after he arrives to the age of twenty one years and 

Immediately after the decease of my Said wife he the Said Peter Shall & may enter into the full 

possession of the whole; I likewise give unto my Said Son all my personal or moveable Estate that 
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Shall remain after the payment of my Just Debts Legacies afore Said and my Said wives thirds be 

taken out & to take the Same into his possession.  Immediately after he comes to Lawful age.  And 

further my will is that if my Said Son Shall happen to die without Legitimate Issue then and in that 

Case my Said daughter Anne Dixon Shall have hold & enjoy to her & her Lawful heirs forever all & 

Singular the Lands, buildings, Goods & Chattels above Mentioned to be given to my Said Son Peter 

Dixon. 

     And I do hereby Nominate ordain & appoint my beloved wife Mary Dixon afore Said to be my 

Sole Executrix of this my Last Will & Testament. 

     And I do desire my Loving brother Jacob Remick and my Loving friend Joseph Hamond Jr. to be 

overseers of the Execution of this my Will. 

     In Witness where of I the Said Peter Dixon have hereunto Set my hand & Seal this ____day of 

_____  In the year of our Lord One Thousand Seven Hundred & Eight . . .    

     Wit: Jos:  Hamond Junr                                       Peter Dixon.”   (Seal) 

             Rebeccah Rogers, by mark 

     (Maine Wills, 206.) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandfather Christian Remick was born in 1631, in England, to unknown parents. 

 

• Christian married Hannah Foster about 1650, likely in Maine. 

 

• Christian died 12 May 1718, Kittery, York County, Maine. 

 

Stories about Christian Remick, found on ancestry.com 

This article copied from Genealogical and personal memoirs relating to the families of Boston and 
eastern Massachusetts, Vol. 3, by William Richard Cutter; Lewis Historical Publishing Company, 

1908.  

From Page 1262: 

REMICK 

Christian Remick (I), immigrant ancestor, came from England or Holland to America.  He was born 

in 1631 and was living at Kittery, Maine, January 24, 1715.  He signed the submission to 

Massachusetts in 1652.  He settled on Eliot Neck, where he had a grant of fifty-two acres of land in 

1651, and six later grants.  His house stood near the river, not far from the present schoolhouse.  He 

was a planter and surveyor and was often selectman and treasurer of the town.  He was one of the 

proprietors of Old Kittery, and his grandson Nathaniel received several hundred acres of land at the 

division of common lands in 1750.  He married Hannah ________, who was living in April 1703.   
 



 155 

 

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandmother Hannah Foster was born in 1633, likely in England. 

 

• Hannah married Christian Remick about 1650, likely in Maine. 

 

• Hannah died 30 April 1703, in Kittery, York County, Maine 

 

 

 

 

 

• 8th Great-Grandmother Sarah Peaslee was born 20 February 1709, in Hampton, Rockingham 

County, New Hampshire, to Reverend John Peaslee, and Mary Martin. 

 

• Sarah married Peter Morrell on 27 August 1731, in Amesbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

• Sarah died 19 June 1780, in North Berwick, York County, Maine. 

 

 

 

 

 

The following covers many generations of the Peaslee family, taken from the book, “The Genealogical 

and Family History of Western New York, Volume 1; Pages 262-264 
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• 9th Great-Grandfather Reverend John Peaslee was born 25 February 1679, in Haverhill, Essex 

County, Massachusetts, to Dr. Joseph Peaslee, and Ruth Barnard. 

 

• John married Mary Martin, on 1 March 1705, likely in Massachusetts. 

 

Quaker Records for the marriage of John Peaslee and Mary Martin, found on ancestry.com 

 
 

 

 

• John died in 1752, in Newton, Rockingham County, New Hampshire, and is buried in the 

Newton Quaker Cemetery, in Newton, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 
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New Hampshire Probate Records, 1635-1753 

 
 

 

Stories about Reverend John Peaslee, found on ancestry.com 

He was a minister in the Society of Friends. The first Friends meeting in Newton NH was at his 

home (moved to Newton about 1713). 

He had 98 grandchildren! 

Colonel Nathaniel Peaslee son of Reverend John Peaslee, in 1739 was one of the Committee of the 

General Court on the boundary line between Massachusetts and New Hampshire. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandfather Dr. Joseph Peaslee was born 9 September 1646, in Haverhill, Essex 

County, Massachusetts, to Reverend Joseph Peaslee and Mary Johnson. 

 

• Joseph married Ruth Barnard on 21 January 1671, in Amesbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

• Joseph died 21 March 1735, in Haverhill, Essex County, Massachusetts, and is buried in 

Pentucket Cemetery, in Haverhill, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

Photo of house said to be that of Dr. Joseph Peaslee and called “Peaslee Garrison”, found on 

ancestry.com, address is 790 East Broadway, Haverhill, MA 01830 
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Stories about Dr. Joseph Peaslee, found on ancestry.com 

JOSEPH PEASLEY-2, son of Joseph & Mary (Johnson) Peaslee, was born 9 Sep 1646 in Haverhill, 

Essex County, MA and died 21-Mar-1733/34 in Haverhill, Essex County, MA. Joseph was raised in the 

eastern part of Haverhill, near to Amesbury in the old riverfront settle ment of Rocks Village. He 

married 1st) 21-Jan-1671/72 in Amesbury, Essex County, MA to Ruth Barnard. Ruth was the daughter 

of Thomas & Helene (Morse) Barnard and was born 16-Oct-1651 in Salisbury, MA; she died 5-Nov-

1723 in Haverhill, Essex County, MA. Joseph married the widow Mary (Tucker) Davis a short time 

later. 

 

 

"Joseph Peaslee, called 'Junior', was but twelve years old when his father died. He and his family lived 

in the "eastern part of the town near the head of what is now (1977) East Broadway on the side towards 

the Merrimack River". The house he erected prior to 1675 on the County Bridge Road This house 
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became known as the "Peaslee Garrison" and still stands at 790 East Broadway, Haverhill. It was used as 

a sort of armory at one time and was constructed with bricks imported from England. (An interesting 

sidenote is that Robert Hastings, the mason who built the house, had a daughter, Elisabeth, who later 

married Joseph's son, Joseph.) The house is 2 stories high and has 3 rooms upstairs and 3 rooms 

downstairs. A chimney is located at each end of the house. During King Philip's War the home was used 

as a garrison house where soldiers were stationed, and people could flee if need be.  

 

In 1692, he was granted "the privilege of erecting a sawmill at the head of east meadow river upon the 

stream by or near Brandy Row." The mill was built in 1693 and the site later became known as Peaslee’s 

Mill. A Peaslee occupied it until 1860. Joseph sold 25% of the mill to Simon Wainwright in 1693/4 for 

110 pounds. 

 

'Junior' was said to have been a physician and was called 'Doctor'. He was known locally as a physician 

who had much knowledge of herbs and roots and used them to aid people medically. The amount of 

property enumerated in his will would constitute a well-to-do man, even of today. He also had a second 

wife, a Mary Tucker, the widow of Stephen Davis. 

 

 

Dr. Joseph Peaslee only son and youngest child of Joseph (I) and Mary (Johnson) Peaslee, born at 

Haverhill Massachusetts 9 Sept 1646, died 21 Mar 1734. Prior to father's death in 1660 he was 

granted "Children's Land" and 10 Oct 1660 a "township", the latter a term used to indicate 

prospective rights. About 1673 he built his house in east Haverhill near "Rock's Bridge" spanning 

the Merrimac, using bricks brought form England. It was two stories with a wing and was widely 

known as "old garrison" or the "Peaslee Garrison House". The building is yet in good state of repair, 

one of the landmarks of the Merrimac Valley and of great interest to antiquarians. The house famed 

in prose and poetry was originally built by Dr. Peaslee as a refuge for women and children from the 

Indians and was used as a garrison house in the French & Indian and King Philip Wars. The first 

Quaker meetings, in that part of the country, were held at this house, Dr. Peaslee becoming a 

convert and joining the meeting. This was 1699 after the town had refused them use of the meeting 

house. In 1687 he was chosen constable, having taken the oath of fidelity and allegiance in 1677. In 

1692 he was granted the privilege of erecting a sawmill. The mill was built the next year and for 150 

years thereafter was wholly owned or in part in the Peaslee name. He was a large landowner, by 

grants, inheritance, and purchase. He was a noted physician, was selectman of Haverhill 1689-690 

and 1696, in 1721 was again chosen constable. There is no record of his burial place. 
 

 

 

Story about Dr. Joseph Peaslee found on findagrave.com 

Dr. Joseph is the husband of Ruth Barnard of Salisbury, whom he married 21 Jan 1672 in Amesbury. 
Joseph is the son of Rev. Joseph Peaslee and Mary Johnson (Quakers) 

 

Interesting footnote: 
Ruth and Joseph's first child, Mary, was conceived out of wedlock and born 14 Jul 1672. 

Consequently, at the Quartey court session in Salisbury on 8 April 1673,"Joseph P. and Ruth, his wife, 
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presented for fornication, confessed and was sentenced to be whipped tomorrow or pay a fine of 6 
pounds." Article never stated which they had chosen. 

 

He and his wife held the first Quaker meeting in New England in their Garrison 
House, built in 1673, and still standing today in Haverhill. 

 

They were the 2nd great-grandparents of John Greenleaf Whittier. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Excerpt from the book “Genealogy and History of Representative Citizens of the Commonwealth of 

Massachusetts”: Page 390-391, found on ancestry.com, stories concerning the Peaslee ancestors 
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Excerpt form unknown book concerning Peaslee ancestors, found on ancestry.com 
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• 11th Great-Grandfather Reverend Joseph Peaslee was born about 1600, in Wales, to unknown 

parents. 

 

• Joseph married Mary Johnson about 1645, likely in Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

• Joseph died 3 December 1660, in Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandmother Mary Johnson was born about 1604, in Trevor Issa, Wales, to John 

Johnson, and Hannah Throckmorton. 

 

• Mary married Reverend Joseph Peaslee about 1645, likely in Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

• Mary died 27 September 1694, in Haverhill, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandmother Ruth Barnard was born 16 October 1651, in Salisbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to Thomas Barnard and Eleanor Helena Morse. 

 

• Ruth married Dr. Joseph Peaslee on 21 January 1671, in Amesbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts. 

 

• Ruth died 25 November 1723, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts, and is buried in 

Pentucket Cemetery, in Haverhill, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

Headstone photo of Ruth Barnard found on findagrave.com 
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• 11th Great-Grandfather Thomas Barnard was born 10 August 1608, in England, to Thomas 

Barnard, and Anne E. Cooke 

 

• Thomas married Eleanor Helena Morse about 1640, likely in Massachusetts.  

 

• Thomas was killed by Indians on 7 July 1677, in Amesbury, Essex County, Massachusetts, and 

is buried in unknown spot but his name is on the memorial, in Golgotha Burial Ground, in 

Amesbury, Essex County, Massachusetts.  

 

Memorial photo for Thomas Barnard found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandmother Eleanor Helena Morse was born 16 October 1615, in England, to 

Samuel Morse, and Elizabeth Jasper. 

 

• In 1635, Eleanor immigrated to Watertown, Massachusetts.  

 

• Eleanor married Thomas Barnard about 1640, likely in Massachusetts.  

 

• Eleanor married George Little on 19 July 1681, in Newbury, Essex County, Massachusetts.  

 

• Eleanor died 27 November 1694, in Amesbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 
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• 9th Great-Grandmother Mary Martin was born in 1678, in Amesbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to John Martin, and Mary Weed. 

 

• Mary married John Peaslee on 1 March 1705, likely in Massachusetts. 

 

• Mary died in 1719, in Amesbury, Essex County, Massachusetts, and is buried in the Newton 

Quaker Cemetery, in Newton, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandfather John Martin was born 26 January 1650, in Amesbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to George Martin and Susannah North. 

 

• John married Mary Weed about 1775, likely in Amesbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

• John died 6 October 1694, in Amesbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandfather George Martin was born in 1618, in England, to unknown parents. 

 

• George married Susannah North on 11 August 1646, in Massachusetts. 

 

• George died 23 November 1686, in Amesbury, Essex County, Massachusetts, and is buried in 

unknown spot but his name is on the memorial, in Golgotha Burial Ground, in Amesbury, Essex 

County, Massachusetts, shown above under Thomas Barnard. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandmother Susannah North was born 30 September 1621, in England, to Richard 

North, and Joan Bartram. 

 

• Susannah married George Martin on 11 August 1646, in Massachusetts. 

 

• In 1669, Susannah was accused of being a witch. 

 

• In 1692, she was again accused of being a witch. 
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Warrant for the apprehension of Susannah Martin, found on ancestry.com 
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• Susannah was hanged 19 July 1692, in Salem, Essex County, Massachusetts, she is buried in 

Burying Point Cemetery, in Salem, Essex County, Massachusetts. Her name is on the Salem 

Witch Trials Memorial, in Salem, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

Memorial photos of name of Susannah North Martin, found on findagrave.com 

      
 

Stories about Susannah North Martin, found on ancestry.com 

Victim of the Salem Witch Trials. The youngest of four daughters of Richard North and Joan 

Bartram, her baptism is reported as September 30, 1621, at Olney, Buckinghamshire, England. Her 

mother died when she was a child and her father married Ursula Scott. In 1639, Richard North 

immigrated to New England and settled his family at Salisbury, Massachusetts. Susannah married 

the widower George Martin in 1646 at Salisbury. George and Susannah Martin moved to Amesbury, 

Massachusetts in 1654. George Martin is shown as one of the first settlers of Amesbury on a 

commemorative plaque in the Amesbury-Golgotha Burying Ground. Susannah and George were the 

parents of eight children. Through her daughter, Jane, Susannah is the 5th great grandmother of U. 

S. President Chester A. Arthur. In 1669, William Sargent accused Susannah of witchcraft. George 

Martin sued Sargent for slander against Susannah and a higher court dismissed the witchcraft 

charges. George Martin died in 1686 and Susannah remained in Amesbury. In 1692, at the age of 71, 

she was accused of being a witch by several residents of Salem Village (now the Town of Danvers), 

which is located about 25 miles south of Amesbury. Susannah was arrested and tried for witchcraft. 

None of the accused were represented by council and during her trial, she defended herself 

defiantly. She was found guilty and hanged on July 19, 1692, along with four other women. All were 

placed in a shallow unmarked grave. Over 400 people were accused during the Salem witchcraft 

hysteria. Of those convicted, twenty were executed and four died in prison. In May 1693, all of the 

remaining accused that had been arrested were released, but only after their families had paid jail 

and court costs. In 1709, a petition was submitted requesting reversal of the convictions of 22 

individuals. In October 1711, this petition was approved by the General Court and in December, the 

Governor authorized monetary compensation to these individuals or their heirs. Susannah Martin's 

family did not sign this petition and she, along with others, were not included in this resolution. In 
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1957, an Act was passed pronouncing the innocence of "One Ann Pudeator and certain other 

persons." It was not until 2001 that an Act was passed amending the 1957 wording to include the 

names, "Ann Pudeator, Bridget Bishop, Susannah Martin, Alice Parker, Margaret Scott and Wilmot 

Redd..." (bio by: Eric)  
 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandmother Mary Weed was born 5 September 1653, Salisbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to John Weed, and Deborah Winsley. 

 

• Mary married John Martin about 1775, likely in Amesbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

• Mary died 13 December 1713, Amesbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandfather John Weed was born in 1627, in England, to Jonas Weed, and Mary Jane 

Davidson. 

 

• John married Deborah Winsley on 14 November 1650, likely in Massachusetts.  

 

• John died 15 March 1688, in Amesbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandmother Deborah Winsley was born in 1630, Newbury, England, to Samuel 

Winsley, and Elizabeth Randall. 

 

• Deborah married John Weed on 14 November 1650, likely in Massachusetts.  

 

• Deborah died 20 April 1695, in Amesbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandmother Abigail Johnson was born 31 January 1735, in Hampton Falls, 

Rockingham County, New Hampshire, to Obadiah Johnson and Judith Brown. 

 

• Abigail married Thomas Morrell on 9 May 1754, in Amesbury, Massachusetts. 
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• Abigail died 9 September 1827, likely in New Hampshire. 

 

• 8th Great-Grandfather Obadiah Johnson was born 10 May 1705, in Hampton, Rockingham 

County, New Hampshire, to Edmund Johnson, and Abigail Green. 

 

• Obadiah married Judith Brown on 28 November 1730, in Newbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts. 

 

• Obadiah died 11 February 1776, in Hampton, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

New Hampshire, U.S., Wills and Probate Records, 1643-1982 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 9th Great-Grandfather Edmund Johnson was born 8 May 1671, in Hampton, Rockingham 

County, New Hampshire, to Peter Johnson, and Ruth Moulton. 
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• Edmund married Abigail Green on 25 July 1693, in Hampton, Rockingham County, New 

Hampshire. 

• Edmund died 11 November 1737, in Kensington, Rockingham County, New Hampshire, and is 

buried in Pine Hill Cemetery, in Dover, Stafford County, New Hampshire. 

 

Headstone photo for Edmund Johnson, found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandfather Peter Johnson was born in 1639, in Hampton, Rockingham County, New 

Hampshire to Edmund Johnson unknown mother. 

 

• Peter married Ruth Moulton on 3 February 1660, in Hampton, Rockingham County, New 

Hampshire. 

 

• Peter drowned and died in the Hamilton River, 16 November 1674, in Hampton, Rockingham 

County, New Hampshire. 

 

Story about Peter Johnson, found on ancestry.com 

The following was taken from  

History of Rockingham County, NH -- Hampton 

By Charles A. Hazlett -- 1915 
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Eunice ("Goody") Cole, widow of William Cole, was a fruitful source of vexation to the good 

people of Hampton for a long series of years. Hated and despised for her ugly and malicious 
disposition, she was also feared by many on account of her supposed alliance with the devil, 
who had given her power to inflict whatever punishment or injury she chose upon all who had 
the daring in any way to offend her. But notwithstanding her reputation of being a witch, it did 
not prevent the young people of that day from playing upon her many a trick, which the fact of 
her living solitary and alone afforded them a good opportunity. The story goes that Peter 
Johnson, who was a carpenter, was a ringleader among her tormenters. At one time he was 
framing the second meetinghouse, when attempting to hew off a chip from a stick of timber, 
while she was standing by waiting to pick it up for her fire, he struck blow after blow without 
producing any apparent impression upon the stubborn wood. This caused her to laugh at him 
and taunt him with his great skill as a carpenter, which so irritated him that he threw his axe 
directly at her. It, however, passed her, and stuck in the ground, with the handle upwards. He 
caught hold of the handle with the intention of taking it up, but in vain. At length after repeated 
unavailing efforts, he requested her to give him his axe again, and told her that he was very 
sorry for what he had done. She immediately went and pulled the axe out with the greatest 
ease. 

It is also related that at one time some of the more daring of the young people looked into her 
windows one evening, when they saw her very busily engaged in turning a bowl with 
something in it, apparently in the shape of a boat. At last, she turned it over, and exclaimed, 
"There, the devil has got the imps!" That night news came that Peter Johnson, carpenter, and 
James Philbrick, mariner, were drowned at the same hour from a boat in the river, near the 
creek now known as Cole's Creek. The drowning of these men, who were much lamented, 
increased the fear and hatred of the old woman. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandfather Edmund Johnson was born about 1620, in Wales, to John Johnson and 

unknown mother. 

 

• Edmund died 10 March 1651, in Massachusetts. 

 

 

Story concerning the Johnson family found on ancestry.com 
• Brown Family in Hampton 

Posted 21 Mar 2011 by Esotericeagle  

From Francis Almond Brown 

Ephraim Brown – Sarah Brown daughter Judith Brown md to Obadiah Johnson 

Edmund Johnson, immigrant JOHNSON Ancestor, came from Wales 
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In 1635, and settled at Winnicumet, now Hampton, New Hampshire. According to tradition, his 

grandfather, Edmund Johnson, with six older sons were drowned while fishing in the river at 

Pontz Pool, South Wales, about 1600, leaving only the son John, then a lad of twelve years. This 

John had 

Two sons, Edmund, the immigrant, and John AP John, a co-laborer with George Fox, the 

Quaker. When Johnson came to Winnicumet, it included what is now Kensington, Hapten Falls, 

and parts of Rye and Seabrook, as well as Hampton, New Hampshire. His house lot has 

descended in the family and at last accounts was owned by Joseph and Nathaniel Johnson. He 

died March 10, 1651, and his widow married Thomas Coleman. Children: I. Peter, born 1639; 

mentioned below. 2. John, 1641. 3. James. 1643. 4. Dorcas. 1645. 

(II) Peter, son of Edmund Johnson, was born at Hampton and baptized there in 1639 by Rev. 

Stephen Bachiler. He was drowned in the Hamilton River, November 16. 1674. He married, 

April 7, 1660, Ruth Moulton. Of Hampton. He was a prominent Quaker. Children, born at 

Hampton: 1. Mary, February 7. 1663. 2. Ruth, May 13, 1666. 3. Edmund, May 8, 1671: 

mentioned below. 4. Peter, September 25, 1674. 

(III) Edmund (2), son of Peter Johnson, was born at Hampton, May 8, 1671, died there 

November 11, 1737. He settled in the north pert of Hampton on Little River and lived there until 

1701, when he had leave to lay out land on little river and take up a tract in what is now 

Kensington, near Kingston. He, his father-in-law and the Chase family settled adjoining farms 

and the Chase and Green farms are still in the possession of descendants or were recently. He 

married, in 1693, Abigail Green. Children, born at Hampton and Kensington: 1. Abigail, 

September 25, 1693. 2. Ruth. February 24, 1695. 3. Esther, February 22. 1697. 4. Dorcas, May 5, 

1699. 5. Peter, September 7. 1701. 6. Obadiah, October 3, 1705; mentioned below. 7. Mary, 

November 3, 1707. 8. Patience, September 23, 1709. 

(IV) Obadiah. Son of Edmund (2) Johnson was born at Kensington, October 3, 1705. He 

married, 1729-30, Judith Brown, of Newbury, Massachusetts. Children, born at Kensington: 1. 

Edmund, December 10, 1730. 2. Abigail. 3. Obadiah. 4. Patience. 5. Enoch, mentioned below.   

From Genealogical and personal memoirs relating to the families of the ..., Volume 4 

 edited by William Richard Cutter, William Frederick Adams 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandmother Ruth Moulton was born 7 January 1640, in Hampton, Rockingham 

County, New Hampshire, to unknown parents. 

• Ruth married Peter Johnson on 3 February 1660, in Hampton, Rockingham County, New 

Hampshire. 
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• Ruth died 27 February 1718, in Hampton, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 9th Great-Grandmother Abigail Green was born 27 February 1669, in Hampton, Rockingham 

County, New Hampshire, to Abraham Green, and Esther Swett. 

 

• Abigail married Edmund Johnson on 25 July 1693, in Hampton, Rockingham County, New 

Hampshire. 

 

• Abigail died 16 January 1738, in Hampton, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandfather Abraham Green was born in 1648, in Hampton, Rockingham County, 

New Hampshire, to Henry Green, and Mary Perkins. 

 

• Abraham married Esther Swett on 9 May 1668, in New Hampshire. 

 

• Abraham died 27 February 1718, in Hampton, Rockingham County, New Hampshire, and is 

buried in Elmwood Cemetery, in Seabrook, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

New Hampshire, U.S., Wills and Probate Records, 1643-1982 
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• 11th Great-Grandparents Judge Henry Green was born in 1620, in England to unknown parents. 

 

• Henry married Mary Perkins. 

 

• Henry married Mary Hussey in 1790, in Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

• Henry died 5 August 1700, in Rockingham County, New Hampshire, and is buried in Elmwood 

Cemetery, in Seabrook, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

New Hampshire, U.S., Wills and Probate Records, 1643-1982 
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• 11th Great-Grandmother Mary Perkins Green was born 16 September 1621, in England, to 

unknown parents. 

 

• Mary married Judge Henry Green. 
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• Mary died 26 April 1690, in Rockingham County, New Hampshire, and is buried in Elmwood 

Cemetery, in Seabrook, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandmother Esther Swett was born 7 June 1648, in Newbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to unknown parents. 

 

• Esther married Abraham Green on 9 May 1668, in New Hampshire. 

 

• Esther died 24 July 1703, in Hampton, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 8th Great-Grandmother Judith Brown was born in 1710, in Hampton Falls, Rockingham County, 

New Hampshire, to Ephraim Brown, and Sarah Unknown. 

 

• Judith married Obadiah Johnson on 28 November 1730, in Newbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts. 

 

• Judith died 6 February 1741, in Hampton, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 9th Great-Grandfather Ephraim Brown was born 6 October 1677, in Reading, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to Josiah Brown, and Mary Fellows. 

 

• Ephraim married Sarah Unknown on 8 July 1702, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

• Ephraim died 16 November 1750, in Coventry, Tolland County, Connecticut. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandfather Josiah Brown was born in 1635, in Lynn, Essex County, Massachusetts, 

to unknown parents. 
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• Josiah married Mary Fellows on 23 November 1634, in Reading, Middlesex County, 

Massachusetts. 

 

• Josiah died on 29 January 1689, in Reading, Middlesex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandmother Mary Fellows was born in 1643, in Ipswich, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to William Fellows and Mary Ayers. 

 

• Mary married Josiah Brown on 23 November 1634, in Reading, Middlesex County, 

Massachusetts. 

 

• Mary died in 1690, in Marblehead, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandfather William Fellows was born 22 October 1609, in England, to Noble 

Fellows and Elizabeth Moricke. 

 

• William married Mary Ayers, about 1640, in Massachusetts. 

 

• William died 29 November 1676, in Ipswich, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

Transcription of the Will of William Fellows, found on ancestry.com (written in time period 

English) 
THE LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT OF 

WILLIAM FELLOWS OF 

IPSWICH, MASSACHUSETTS 

 

The last Will of William fellows November 20:76 

I having my perfit memory I Commit my Soull to God and my body to ye grave and 

bequeath my earthly goods as followeth  

 

my will is ye my wif shall have one rome in my house to herself and for her use 

dewring her life ye is to say ye parler and to have twelve pounds yearly paid her 

in good merchantable pay by my three sons//Ephraim Samuel Joseph// and likewise it 

is my will ye  my wif should have two of my //best//Cowes and to be kept by my sons 

winter and Somer for my wifs use and my wif shall have liberty to keep two swine 

and likewise my sons shall maintain her with conueeunint firering winter and somer 

a long as she lius a widow and likewise tis my wil ye my wif shall have a 

conueanine pece of land for gearding and a quarter of a acker of good land yearly 

to sow flaxe on and it is my will ye my wif shall have all ye house hold goods at 

her disposal  

 

tis my will ye my sonne Isack shall have my march lote at hog Iland adid to which I 

have giving him allredy 
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and my will is ye my other three sons ye is Ephram Samuel and Joseph shall have ye 

other half of my farme and ye rest of my sault march with ye buildings and 

stock//and corn//upon ye farme to be posest of it after my disease only to fulfill 

to the mother what is above menchonid and to pay all//my//depts. and legisis as 

foloweth  

 

tis my will ye my daughter Mary shall have ten pounds paid her within two yeare 

after my desease and ten pounds after my wife deseas 

 

and it is my will ye my other three daughters Elisebeth abegill Sary shall have 

twenty pounds a piece one half paid them two years after my deseas ore one thr day 

of mariag and ye other half two years after ye and after my depts. Are all pai my 

will is ye my daughters should be maid equale with the three brothers Ephraim 

Samuel Joseph  

and only fifty pounds ye my  

 

Pg.13 

 

sonne Isack is to pay after my wifs deseas shall be devided equally amonst my three 

daughters Elisebeth abigil Sary and then to be equalized with thr brothers abov 

menshnd.  

Witness William Fellows 

William Story Senear  

his S mark 

Thomas Burnon, senier 

Samuel Ingals, seanir 

 

This writing pduced in court as the will of Wm ffellows but no executor named this 

court grants Administration unto the three sons Ephraim Samuell and Joseph//of//the 

estate of there ffather Wm ffellow deceased the administrators to order the deusion 

of the estate according to the mynd of there ffather according to the intent he 

hath expressed in this will in court held at Ipswich the 27 of March 1677. 

As attest Robert Lord Clerk  

 

 

Stories concerning William Fellows found on ancestry.com 

William Fellows of Ipswich. --The English emigrant William Fellows who located at Ipswich, Mass., is 

the first of the name who is traceable on American soil. He is the ancestor of the greater part of those in 

the United States who now bear the surname. There is no ship record of the coming of Fellows to New 

England. He first appears in the year 1639. Sometime before this a townsman of Ipswich had died, 

leaving in his widow's hands several parcels of land. The widow after a time married a Salem man, who 

promptly sold off the Ipswich properties. Among the purchasers was William Fellows who, about March 

26, 1639, paid œ20 for a six-acre piece. From this date the commonplace but creditable career of 

Goodman Fellows, as he was called, can easily be traced in the town and county records. He was a 

husbandman by occupation and slowly added other parcels to his first land purchase. In 1654 he was a 

freeman of the colony; an honor conferred only on dependable colonists of good standing and correct 

puritan principles. In 1676 he died, leaving a large family and an estate amassed by steady thrift and 

industry. 

 

The identity of William Fellows' wife is nowhere directly stated in the colonial records. In 1672 one 

Mary Fellows was a witness at county court. At this date William's daughter Mary had recently changed 

her surname by marriage, and his daughter-in-law Mary had recently died. Genealogists assume, 
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therefore, that the witness was his wife, whose Christian name is thus revealed. Another indirect 

reference is believed to reveal her surname. In 1661 William Fellows and John Ayres joined in a 

petition to county court on behalf of the minor children of "our sister" Sarah Hartshorne, recently the 

widow of William Lampson. Genealogists agree that this petition indicates that Fellows and Lampson 

had married sisters of Ayres. The age assigned to Isaac Fellows, eldest son of William, when he died in 

1721 indicates that he was born some four years before his father was first mentioned at Ipswich. The 

presumption is then, that Mary Ayres was married to Fellows in Leicestershire and came with him about 

1639 to the colonies. With them, probably, came her sister Sarah Ayres, whose marriage to the Ipswich 

colonist William Lampson soon followed, her eldest child being born 1642. When William Fellows died 

in 1676 his wife was still living, and provision was made for her in his will. The final partition of the 

Fellows farm in 1702 probably indicates that she had died somewhat before. 

 

 

William Fellows most likely was the son of Willyam Fellows of Foxton, Lincolnshire County, England and 

born around the year 1609. Having a certificate from St. Albons Perish in Hertfordshire, with his wife 

Mary, daughter of John Ayer and Hannah Evered, and his oldest son Isaac, he sailed on 22 March 1635 

from London to America aboard the ship "Planter" captained by Nicholas Travice. He was listed as being a 

shoemaker and twenty-four years old. After arriving in Boston on April 11 the family settled in Ipswich 

where he remained until his death in 1676. 

During 1639, Fellows engaged in tending the Ipswich village herd of cows. His contract read "to drive them 

out to feed before sunne be half an hour high and not bring them home before half an hour before 

sunset". The contract ran from April 15th to November 15th and the pay was either in corn or money, a 

total of fifteen pounds. In 1640 he associated with Mark Quilter and Simon Tompson as the Cow keeper on 

the North side of the river. 

In October 1643 he achieved the status of "Commoner" which refers to the protective agreement among 

settlers to arrange their homes next to a "Common" consisting of land of sufficient size to mutually 

protect all their livestock. 

He and his family became owners of considerable property in the area with his name appearing on 

numerous real estate transactions. On 15 November 1649 fifteen acres on the Great Brook towards the 

north was sold to John Pierpont. On 7 February 1658 a farm on the south side of the river, bounded by the 

Mill Brook West was conveyed to Fellows. Around that year he bought the John Andrews farm and took up 

residence in the ancient Candlewood neighborhood. Historians believe the name "Candlewood" came from 

the trees of the local pine forests whose clear grain and rich pitch were used by the inhabitants to light 

their homes for many years. In 1666, with John Proctor Senior, he jointly purchased a four-rod lot with a 

house on the west corner of Green Street and the Meeting House Green. This double ownership continued 

during Fellow's life with his executors buying the Proctor interest from the family heirs in December 1676. 
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Residents of each community had to establish their own local defenses and were required to become 

members of a militia providing for the defense of the town against Indians. Each settler had to furnish his 

own rifle but drew upon town supplies of gun powder and lead for use in its defense. In October 1643, 

Fellows and twenty-six other townsmen were fined for not returning their gun powder supply to the town. 

The next year he was listed as a subscriber to a fund for Daniel Dennison to compensate his as head of the 

town militia of Ipswich. 

On 28 March 1654 Fellows was admitted to the County Court as a "Freeman of the Colony", a social 

position achieved through a combination of land ownership and orthodox church membership. As active 

member in town affairs, his name shows up on many documents, including selection for duty on a County 

Court jury September 24,1667 and as a signer of a petition on 21 March 1669 for restricting tree cutting 

on town lands. 

Children of William and Mary Fellows were Isaac, Ephraim, Abigail, Elizabeth, Samuel, Sarah and Mary. 

Fellows executed his Will on 27 November 1677 and died in Ipswich on December 29, 1676. He was buried 

at the Parish of St. Michael, Ipswich. 

Fellows Road and Fellows Lane, running next to the ancient Fellow's property and named for William 

Fellows still exist in the town of Ipswich. 

Contributed by Dennis Fellows 

  

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandmother Mary Ayers was born 2 August 1618, in England, to unknown parents. 

 

• Mary married William Fellows about 1640, in Massachusetts. 

 

• Mary died in 1676, in Ipswich, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 9th Great-Grandmother Sarah Unknown was born 18 March 1678, in Salisbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to unknown parents. 

 

• Sarah married Ephraim Brown on 8 July 1702, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

• Sarah died in 1726, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 
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• 5th Great-Grandmother Elsah Alice True was born 9 September 1790, in Limington, York 

County, Maine, to Obediah True, and Grace Gerry. 

 

• Elsah married James Guptill on 12 October 1809, in Cornish, York County, Maine. Her story 

matches her husbands until her death. 

 

• Elsah died 13 July 1847, in Porter, Oxford County, Maine, and is buried in Kezar Falls Burial 

Ground, Kezar Falls, Oxford County, Maine. 

 

Headstone photo for Elsah Alice True found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 6th Great-Grandfather Obediah True was born in 1760, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New 

Hampshire, to Israel True and Abagail Johnson. 

 

• Obediah served in the Revolutionary War as a Private in Captain Daniel Wheelwright and 

Captain Samuel Page’s Companies, the 15th Massachusetts Bay Regiment, under the command 

of Colonel Ebenezer Francis, and Colonel Benjamin Tupper. Obediah enlisted in Sanford, Maine 

on 10 March 1777, and served until the unit was mustered out on 1 January 1781. During 

Obediah’s service dates, his unit took part in the Battles of Saratoga, Monmouth, and Rhode 

Island. The muster roll below was a few weeks after the Battle of Saratoga. At some point he was 
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promoted to Corporal. He is listed on the 1835 pension rolls as receiving a $96 annual pension. 

He was also given a Revolutionary War Land Grant in Maine. 

 

Revolutionary War Muster Roll from 1 December 1777 showing Obediah True (#35), found of 

fold3.com 
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Maine, U.S., Veterans Cemetery Records, 1676-1918 

 
 

• Obediah married Grace Gerry about 1785, likely in Maine. 

 

• Obediah married Mary Baston after 1790, likely in Maine. 

 

• In 1790, Obediah lived in Sanford, York County, Maine, with five other family members. 

 

• In 1800, Obediah lived in Limington, York County, Maine, with six other family members. 

 

• In 1830, Obediah lived in Denmark, Oxford County, Maine, with three other family members. 

 

• In 1840, Obediah lived in Denmark, Oxford County, Maine. 

 

• Obediah died 3 December 1844, in Denmark, Oxford County, Maine, and is buried in Stephan 

Peary Cemetery, in Denmark, Oxford County, Maine. 

 

Headstone photo for Obediah True, found on findagrave.com 
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• 7th Great-Grandfather Israel True was born 23 Dec 1707, in Salisbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to Joseph True, and Kezia Hubbard. 

 

• Israel married Abigail Jackson on 1 January 1939, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New 

Hampshire. 

 

• In 1752, Israel was listed as a cabinet maker, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New 

Hampshire. 

 

• In 1790, Israel lived in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New Hampshire, with two other family 

members.  

 

• Israel died 26 September 1793, in Chester, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 8th Great-Grandfather Joseph True was born 18 August 1677, in Salisbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to Sergeant Joseph True and Ruth Whittier. 
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• Joseph married Kezia Hubbard on 16 December 1701, in Salisbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts. 

 

• Joseph died in 1718, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 9th Great-Grandfather Sergeant Joseph True was born 8 February 1652, in Salisbury, Essex 

County, Massachusetts, to Captain Henry True, and Israel Pike. 

 

• Joseph married Ruth Whittier on 20 April 1675, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

• Joseph died 22 December 1718, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts, and is buried in 

Salisbury Colonial Burying Ground, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

Headstone photo for Joseph True, found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

Will for Joseph True found on ancestry.com 
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• 10th Great-Grandfather Captain Henry True was born about 1590, in England, to unknown 

parents. He was said to be a sea captain.  

 

• Henry immigrated about 1640. 

 

• Henry married Israel Pike in 1644, in Salem, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

• Henry died 4 October 1659, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts, and is buried in True 

Cemetery, Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts.  

 

Marker at True Cemetery, found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandmother Israel Pike was born about 1620, likely in England, to John Pike, and 

Dorothy Day. 

 

• Israel, immigrated with her parents about 1635.  
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• Israel married Captain Henry True in 1644, in Salem, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

• Israel died about 1670, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts, and is buried in True 

Cemetery, Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts.  

 

 

 

 

 

• 9th Great-Grandmother Ruth Whittier was born 6 November 1651, in Haverhill, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to Thomas Whittier, and Ruth Rolfe. 

 

• Ruth married Sergeant Joseph True on 20 April 1675, in Salisbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts. 

 

• Ruth died 16 December 1719, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandfather Thomas Whittier was born in 1628 in Amesbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to Richard Whittier and Ruth Unknown. 

 

• Thomas married Ruth Rolfe about 1650, likely in Massachusetts. 

 

• Thomas died 28 November 1696, in Haverhill, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandfather Richard Whittier was born about 1600, likely in England, to unknown 

parents. 

 

• Richard married Ruth Unknown, about 1625, in England, or Massachusetts. 

 

• Richard died unknown time, likely in Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandmother Ruth Unknown was born about 1600, likely in England, to unknown 

parents. 

 

• Ruth married Richard Whittier, about 1625, in England, or Massachusetts. 
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• Ruth died unknown time, likely in Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandmother Ruth Rolfe was born in 1626, in Haverhill, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to John Rolfe, and Joane Ann Coles. 

 

• Ruth immigrated with her parents in 1638. 

 

• Ruth married Thomas Whittier about 1650, likely in Massachusetts. 

 

• Ruth died 7 July 1710, in Haverhill, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandfather John Rolfe was born 24 April 1589, in England, to John Rolfe and 

unknown mother. 

 

• John married Joane Ann Coles about 1610, in England. 

 

• John immigrated in 1638. 

 

• John died 29 March 1664, in Newbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

Transcription of Will of John Rolfe- written in spelling of the time 

  "This 4th (3d) of februrie 1663 I John Roffe of Newbry being often sickly am willing while my 

memorie is good to dispose of my outward Eetat not knowing how soon I may be deaolued and leue 

this world Therefore I do ordain and make my last will and Testament as followeth first I Com-itt 

my soule to god and my body to the Erth to be buried 2dly I give and bequeth my house and all my 

land I have in salsbery with all the privileges and apurtenances be longing ther vnto in said salsbery 

into my daughterr Hestur sanders the wife of John Sanders during hir life and thirtie pounds more: 

and after hir decease to Remain vnto hir Children of hir body by Equall portions Itm I give and 

bequeth vnto Sarah Cottell the wife of willm Cottl besid twenti pounds I formerly gave hir I give hir 

twenti pounds more and vnto hir two Children sarah Cottl and Ann Cotle tenn pounds a peece to be 

Improved by whim Cottl for ther beniflt Itm I give into my Grand Children Tue Ring and Josep 

Ring tenn pounds a peeee and vnto Elizabeth shropinhere and hester Ring twentie pounds a pccce 

Itm I giue vnto Thomas whittyre for his  Children ten pounds Item I giue vnto the Church of 
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newhre twenti shilings Itm I giue into Richard whittyr my sisters sonn teim pounds and vnto his 

soon John whityr five pounds Itm I giue vnto John Rofe my brothrs sonn tenn pounds and vnto his 

two daughtrn marie and Rebeca flofe flue pounds to be Improved equaly for ther benifit 

    "Itm, I give vnto beniamn Rofs son John Roffe tenn pounds and his sonn benimin Roffe five 

pounds to be Improved for ther benifit Itm I give vnto Ann Gardner the wife of Richard gardner 

five pounds Item I give into honore dole the wife of Richard dole my --- Item I giue vnto Richard 

Dols six Children fortie shillings and------ Item I giue vnto heneri lesenby Richard dols servant ten 

shilling. Itm I giue vnto man Kinrick tenn shillings and a plater of pewter Likwis I do ordain and 

apoint my louing Kindaman Richard dole to be my Executur to discharg and pay all the former 

ligacies and debts and Charg that may a Rise for my funerall or otherwise and I desir my three 

frends Henri short willm moody and Richard Knight to be my ouer seers to see this my will to he 

performed and my will is that all the legacies should be paid within a yere and half after my 

decease" 

    his mark 

    John B Roffe (seal) 

    Witness: Richard Knight, Cornelius Connor, Hen: Short, 

    his mark 

    William W-M moodye. 

    Proved in Ipswich court 29 Mar.1664 by Richard Knight and William Moody. Essex Co. Probate 

Files, Docket 24,116. 

    * The day at the month was changed in the original instrument. 
 

 

 

 

 

• 11th Great-Grandmother Joane Ann Coles was born about 1591, in England, to John Coles and 

Joan Marsh. 

 

• Joane married John Rolfe about 1610, in England. 

 

• Joane immigrated in 1638. 

 

• Joane died 11 April 1638, in Newbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 
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• 8th Great-Grandmother Kezia Hubbard was born 11 November 1684, in Salisbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to Richard Hubbard, and Martha Allen. 

 

• Kezia married Joseph True on 16 December 1701, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

• Kezia died in 1728, in Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 9th Great-Grandfather Richard Hubbard was born in 1630, in in Salisbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to Richard Hubbard, and Sarah Parker. 

 

• Richard immigrated to Ipswich, Massachusetts, in 1653. 

 

• Richard married Martha Allen in 1666, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

• In 1678, Richard lived in Ipswich, Massachusetts. 

 

• Richard died 26 June 1719, in Ipswich, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

Headstone photo from Richard Hubbard, found on ancestry.com 

 
 

 

Story about Richard found on findagrave.com 

Richard Hubbard is the son of Richard and Hannah (Parker) Hubbard of England. 

Richard Hubbard married Martha Allen before 8 June 1666 in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 
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The actual death date is June 26. >BLH. 

 

Richard, Salisbury, s. prob. of the first Richard, freem. 1690; by w. Martha, sis. of Peter Ayer, had Comfort, 

b. 17 Jan. 1682; Jemima, and Kezia, tw. 11 Nov. 1684; Richard, 9 Mar. 1687; Eleazer, 27 Oct. 1689; and 

another child perhaps Mary, but the rec. is uncert. >Savage, v2, p485. 
 

Cornet Richard Hubbard is related through the Boynton side through his wife Martha Allen. Their son 

John married Jane Follansby who is related through the Hughes side. "Cornet" means he was a cavalry 

color bearer. >BLH. 

 

Richard and his wife signed the Bradbury petition in 1692. >Old Families of Salisbury and Amesbury, 
Massachusetts, p210. 

 

Age taken from deposition in the North will case, Supreme Court files, Boston, 1671-4. It does not seem 
probable that he was nearly related to the Ipswich Hubbard’s. Possibly he may have been a brother of a 

minister, though we find no Richard mentioned. among the sons of Rev. Peter Hobart or Hubbard [p. 17]. 
 

The town of Amesbury, in 1667, granted to [Richard?] Hubbard a "common right when he comes to live 
among us;" but he seems to have settled in S. bef. that date. As this is nearly the time of Rev. Mr. 

Hubbard’s service in A., it may possibly refer to him [p. 17]. Henry Wheeler of S. deeded house and land in 
S. to Richard Hubbard, 1684. Richard Hubbard of Boston deeded property in S. to Abigail Wheeler of 

Boston, wid. of Henry Wheeler, in 1696. He could not, however, have been long a resident of Boston. >Old 
Families of Salisbury and Amesbury, Massachusetts, p210 - footnotes. 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandfather Richard Hubbard was born about 1600, in England, to unknown parents. 

 

• Richard married Sarah Parker in England or Massachusetts. 

 

• Richard died after 1645, and likely in Massachusetts.  

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandmother Richard Sarah Parker was born about 1600, in England, to unknown 

parents. 

 

• Sarah married Richard Hubbard in England or Massachusetts. 

 

• Sarah died after 1645, and likely in Massachusetts. 
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• 9th Great-Grandmother Martha Allen was born in 1646, in Salisbury, Essex County, 

Massachusetts, to William Allen, and Ann Goodall 

. 

• Martha married Richard Hubbard in 1666, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

• Martha died 4 October 1718, in in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

Headstone photo for Martha Allen, found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandfather William Allen was born about 1620, in England, to unknown parents.  

 

• William married Ann Goodall, about 1645, likely in Massachusetts. 

 

• William died after 1646, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandmother Ann Goodall was born about 1620, in England, to unknown parents. 

 

• Ann married William Allen, about 1645, likely in Massachusetts. 

 

• Ann died after 1646, in Salisbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 
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• 7th Great-Grandmother Abigail Jackson was born about 1719, in Portsmouth, Rockingham 

County, New Hampshire, to John Jackson, and Abigail Beck. 

• Abigail married Israel True on 1 January 1939, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New 

Hampshire. 

 

• Abigail died 21 October 1786, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 8th Great-Grandfather John Jackson was born in 1689, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New 

Hampshire, to John Jackson, and Margaret Clarke. 

 

• John married Abigail Beck on 10 March 1716, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New 

Hampshire. 

 

• John died 30 December 1782, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 9th Great-Grandfather John Jackson was born 30 September 1638, in Portsmouth, Rockingham 

County, New Hampshire, to John Jackson, and Katherine Musley. 

 

• John married Margaret Clarke about 1670, likely in New Hampshire. 

 

• John died in 1722 in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandfather John Jackson was born 26 December 1608, in England, to Richard 

Jackson, and Elizabeth Coffin. 

 

• John married Katherine Musley about 1630, in England. 

 

• John immigrated in 1635. 

 

• John ide 18 July 1648, in Ipswich, Essex County, Massachusetts. 
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• 10th Great-Grandmother Katherine Musley was born about 1615, in England, to unknown 

parents.  

 

• Katherine married John Jackson about 1630, in England. 

 

• Katherine immigrated in 1635. 

 

• Katherine died 2 June 1671, in Ipswich, Essex County, Massachusetts. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 9th Great-Grandmother Margaret Clark was born about 1650, in Portsmouth, Rockingham 

County, New Hampshire, to unknown parents. 

 

• Margaret married John Jackson about 1670, likely in New Hampshire. 

 

• Margaret died after 1689, likely in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 8th Great-Grandmother Abigail Beck was born in 1693, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, 

New Hampshire, to Thomas Beck and Mary Unknown. 

 

• Abigail married John Jackson on 10 March 1716, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New 

Hampshire. 

 

• Abigail died 15 May 1776, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 9th Great-Grandfather Thomas Beck was born in 1657, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New 

Hampshire, to Henry Beck and Ann Frost. 

 

• Thomas married Mary Unknown, in 1683, in New Hampshire, or Massachusetts.  

 

• Thomas died 7 November 1734, in Newbury, Essex County, Massachusetts. 
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• 10th Great-Grandfather Henry Beck was born in 1617, in England, to Thomas Beck, and Joan 

Hill. 

 

• Henry immigrated in 1635. 

 

• Henry married Ann Frost  

 

• Henry died 13 Mar 1694, in Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New Hampshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 10th Great-Grandmother Ann Frost was born about 1620, likely in England. 

 

• Ann married Henry Beck 

 

• Ann died on 4 July 1650, at Sturgeon Creek, Eliot, York County, Maine. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 6th Great-Grandmother Grace Gerry was born 9 August 1764, in Philipstown, York County, 

Maine, to James Gerry, and Olive Low.  

 

• Grace married Obediah True about 1785, likely in Maine. 

 

• Grace died after 1790, likely in Maine.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 7th Great-Grandfather James Gary was born in 1737, in Lynn, Essex County, Massachusetts, to 

John Garey, and Abigail Thompson.  

 

• James married Olive Low on 4 April 1760, in Wells, York County, Maine. 

 

• James served in the French and Indian War 
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Excerpt from the book “Sanford in the Revolution”, page 75, found on ancestry.com 

 
 

• James Gerry served in the Revolutionary War as a Private, in Esais Preble’s Company, in 

Colonel Jacob Gerrish’s Massachusetts Regiment.  

 

Excerpt from book “North American, Family Histories, 1500-2000, page 95, found on ancestry.com 

 
 

• In 1810, James lived in Sanford, York County, Maine, with four other family members. 

 

• In 1820, James lived in Sanford, York County, Maine, with ten other family members, three of 

which were engaged in agriculture. 

 

• James died 22 March 1824, in Sanford, York County, Maine. 

 

 

 

 

 

Obituary for James Gary in the “Salem Gazette’, on 13 April 1824, found on ancestry.com 
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Excerpt from the book “Early Families of Sanford-Springvale, Maine; Page 110, found on ancestry.com 
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